South Cambridgeshire Hall
Cambourne Business Park
Cambourne
Cambridge
CB23 6EA
t: 03450 450 500
f: 01954 713149
dx: DX 729500 Cambridge 15
minicom: 01480 376743
www.scambs.gov.uk

24 May 2010

To:

The Chairman, Vice-Chairman and Members of the Planning Committee

Quorum:

4

Dear Councillor
You are invited to attend the next meeting of PLANNING COMMITTEE, which will be held in the
COUNCIL CHAMBER, FIRST FLOOR at South Cambridgeshire Hall on WEDNESDAY, 2
JUNE 2010 at 2.00 p.m.
Members are respectfully reminded that when substituting on committees, subcommittees, and
outside or joint bodies, Democratic Services must be advised of the substitution in advance of
the meeting. It is not possible to accept a substitute once the meeting has started. Council
Standing Order 4.3 refers.
Yours faithfully
GJ HARLOCK
Chief Executive

The Council is committed to improving, for all members of the
community, access to its agendas and minutes. We try to take all
circumstances into account but, if you have any specific needs,
please let us know, and we will do what we can to help you.
AGENDA
PAGES
PUBLIC SPEAKING
Those non-Committee members wishing to address the Planning Committee should
first read the Public Speaking Protocol.
PROCEDURAL ITEMS
1.

Apologies
To receive apologies for absence from committee members.

2.

General Declarations of Interest

3.

Minutes of Previous Meeting
To authorise the Chairman to sign the Minutes of the meeting held
on 12 May 2010 as a correct record. The minutes are attached to
the electronic version of the agenda: visit
www.scambs.gov.uk/meetings and then follow the links.

Democratic Services Contact Officer: Ian Senior, 03450 450 500

1-2

PLANNING APPLICATIONS AND OTHER DECISION ITEMS
4.

S/0507/10/RM - Cambourne (Land to the North-West of Youth
Centre, Back Lane)

3 - 12

5.

S/0438/10/F - Longstanton (Former Oakington Barracks,
Rampton Road.)

13 - 18

6.

S/0452/10/F and S/0453/10/F - Barrington (Land to the
Northwest of, Cedarwood House (West Green), Accessed off
Orwell Road)

19 - 30

7.

S/0107/10/F and S/0108/10/LB - Steeple Morden (67 Hay Street)

31 - 36

8.

S/0329/10/F - Guilden Morden (1 Little Green Cottages, Little
Green)

37 - 42

9.

S/0330/10/F - Great Shelford (66 Cambridge Road)

43 - 50

10.

S/0014/10/F - Willingham (Land to the South of Brickhills)

51 - 66

11.

S/0410/10/F - Over (Land to the West of Hansons Needingworth
Quarry, Long Lane Holme Drove, Over Pit)

67 - 72

INFORMATION ITEMS
The following item is included on the agenda for information and is, in the main,
available in electronic format only (at www.scambs.gov.uk/meetings and in the Weekly
Bulletin dated 26 May 2010). If Members have any comments or questions relating to
issues raised therein, they should contact the appropriate officers prior to the meeting.
12.

Appeals against Planning Decisions and Enforcement Action
Summaries of Decisions of interest attached.
Contact officers:
Gareth Jones, Head of Planning – Tel: 01954 713155
John Koch, Appeals Manager (Special Projects) – Tel: 01954
713268

13.

Cambourne - Drainage update
Questions and Responses can be found under the heading Lower
Cambourne Terminal Pumping Station (TPS) and Drainage Issues
on the following webpage
http://www.scambs.gov.uk/CommunityandLiving/NewCommunities/
MajorDevelopments/Cambourne/default.htm

73 - 74

GUIDANCE NOTES FOR VISITORS TO SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE HALL
While the District Council endeavours to ensure that visitors come to no harm when visiting South
Cambridgeshire Hall, those visitors also have a responsibility to make sure that they do not risk their own
or others’ safety.
Security
Members of the public attending meetings in non-public areas of the Council offices must report to
Reception, sign in, and at all times wear the Visitor badges issued. Before leaving the building, such
visitors must sign out and return their Visitor badges to Reception.
Emergency and Evacuation
In the event of a fire, a continuous alarm will sound. Evacuate the building using the nearest escape
route; from the Council Chamber or Mezzanine viewing gallery this would be via the staircase just outside
the door. Go to the assembly point at the far side of the staff car park.
•
Do not use the lifts to exit the building. If you are unable to negotiate stairs by yourself, the
emergency staircase landings are provided with fire refuge areas, which afford protection for a
minimum of 1.5 hours. Press the alarm button and wait for assistance from the Council fire
wardens or the fire brigade.
•
Do not re-enter the building until the officer in charge or the fire brigade confirms that it is safe to
do so.
First Aid
If someone feels unwell or needs first aid, please alert a member of staff.
Access for People with Disabilities
The Council is committed to improving, for all members of the community, access to its agendas and
minutes. We try to take all circumstances into account but, if you have any specific needs, please let us
know, and we will do what we can to help you. All meeting rooms are accessible to wheelchair users.
There are disabled toilet facilities on each floor of the building. Hearing loops and earphones are available
from reception and can be used in all meeting rooms.
Toilets
Public toilets are available on each floor of the building next to the lifts.
Recording of Business
Unless specifically authorised by resolution, no audio and / or visual or photographic recording in any
format is allowed at any meeting of the Council, the executive (Cabinet), or any committee, sub-committee
or other sub-group of the Council or the executive.
Banners, Placards and similar items
No member of the public shall be allowed to bring into or display at any Council meeting any banner,
placard, poster or other similar item. The Chairman may require any such item to be removed.
Disturbance by Public
If a member of the public interrupts proceedings, the Chairman will warn the person concerned. If they
continue to interrupt, the Chairman will order their removal from the meeting room. If there is a general
disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the public, the Chairman may call for that part to be
cleared.
Smoking
Since 1 July 2008, the Council has operated a new Smoke Free Policy. Visitors are not allowed to smoke
at any time within the Council offices, or in the car park or other grounds forming part of those offices.
Food and Drink
Vending machines and a water dispenser are available on the ground floor near the lifts at the front of the
building. Visitors are not allowed to bring food or drink into the meeting room.
Mobile Phones
Visitors are asked to make sure that their phones and other mobile devices are set on silent / vibrate
mode during meetings or are switched off altogether.

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
The law allows Councils to consider a limited range of issues in private session without members of the Press and
public being present. Typically, such issues relate to personal details, financial and business affairs, legal privilege
and so on. In every case, the public interest in excluding the Press and Public from the meeting room must outweigh
the public interest in having the information disclosed to them. The following statement will be proposed, seconded
and voted upon.
"I propose that the Press and public be excluded from the meeting during the consideration of the following item
number(s) ….. in accordance with Section 100(A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 on the grounds that, if
present, there would be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph(s) ….. of Part 1 of
Schedule 12A of the Act.”
If exempt (confidential) information has been provided as part of the agenda, the Press and public will not be able to
view it. There will be an explanation on the website however as to why the information is exempt.

Notes
(1)

Some development control matters in this Agenda where the periods of consultation and representation
may not have quite expired are reported to Committee to save time in the decision making process.
Decisions on these applications will only be made at the end of the consultation periods after taking into
account all material representations made within the full consultation period. The final decisions may be
delegated to the Corporate Manager (Planning and Sustainable Communities).

(2)

The Council considers every planning application on its merits and in the context of national, regional and
local planning policy. As part of the Council's customer service standards, Councillors and officers aim to
put customers first, deliver outstanding service and provide easy access to services and information. At all
times, we will treat customers with respect and will be polite, patient and honest. The Council is also
committed to treat everyone fairly and justly, and to promote equality. This applies to all residents and
customers, planning applicants and those people against whom the Council is taking, or proposing to take,
planning enforcement action. More details can be found on the Council's website under 'Council and
Democracy'.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2

South Cambridgeshire District Council
Planning Committee – 2 June 2010 – Declaration of Interests
Councillor ………………………………….
Personal / Personal and Prejudicial [delete as appropriate]
Item no: ………. App. No. ………………………. Village: …………………………….
Reason:

Personal / Personal and Prejudicial [delete as appropriate]
Item no: ………. App. No. ………………………. Village: …………………………….
Reason:

Personal / Personal and Prejudicial [delete as appropriate]
Item no: ………. App. No. ………………………. Village: …………………………….
Reason:

Personal / Personal and Prejudicial [delete as appropriate]
Item no: ………. App. No. ………………………. Village: …………………………….
Reason:

Please return the completed form to ian.senior@scambs.gov.uk prior to the
meeting, or leave it with the Democratic Services Officer in the Chamber, or
leave it with the Democratic Services Section.

Page 2

Personal / Personal and Prejudicial [delete as appropriate]
Item no: ………. App. No. ………………………. Village: …………………………….
Reason:

Personal / Personal and Prejudicial [delete as appropriate]
Item no: ………. App. No. ………………………. Village: …………………………….
Reason:

Personal / Personal and Prejudicial [delete as appropriate]
Item no: ………. App. No. ………………………. Village: …………………………….
Reason:

Personal / Personal and Prejudicial [delete as appropriate]
Item no: ………. App. No. ………………………. Village: …………………………….
Reason:

Please return the completed form to ian.senior@scambs.gov.uk prior to the
meeting, or leave it with the Democratic Services Officer in the Chamber, or
leave it with the Democratic Services Section.

Page 3

Agenda Item 4

SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

REPORT TO:
AUTHOR/S:

Planning Committee
2nd June 2010
Executive Director (Operational Services)/
Corporate Manager (Planning and New Communities)

S/0507/10/RM – CAMBOURNE
Reserved Matters of Layout, Scale, Appearance, Access and Principles of
Landscaping for a Sports Centre, Extended Car Park, New Vehicular Access to Sports
Fields and Associated Landscaping Works, Sports Centre Site, Land North-West of
Youth centre, Back Lane for MCA Developments Ltd
Recommendation: Delegated: Approval
Date for determination: 30th June 2010
Notes:
This application has been reported to the Planning Committee for determination
because it relates to a timetable for provision which, if not met, is subject to Injunctive
Proceedings which were authorised by this Committee in December 2009.
Site and Proposal
1.

The proposed sports centre will be located on a prominent site that sits on the
northern side of the village. There is an existing vehicular access off Back Lane and
the site is presently rough grassland. Surrounding the site there are sports fields, a
bowling green and a MUGA (multi-use games area) and to the south east there is a
car park and temporary changing facilities. To the east of the proposed new access
there is a strip of mature vegetation that separates the site from the adjacent
temporary youth centre and skate park. The nearest residential properties are on the
southern side of Back Lane and to the far west of the bowling green and MUGA. The
site forms part of an overall area allocated for sports in the approved Cambourne
Masterplan.

2.

A reserved matters application was received on 31st March 2010 for the layout, scale,
appearance, access and principles of landscaping for a sports centre with a gross
internal floor area of 1,572 sqm. The building will incorporate a sports hall, dance
studio, gym, changing rooms, social area and has a pay and play functionality. The
application also proposes an extension of the existing car park, landscaping and a
new vehicular access to the sports fields north of the site. The provision of a sports
centre was a requirement of part 2 of the third schedule of the Section 106 agreement
for Cambourne that was signed in April 1994.
Planning History

3.

S/1371/92/O - Outline planning consent was originally granted in 2004 for the
settlement of Cambourne. The S106 agreement that was attached to this planning
consent required the provision of a ‘Multi Purpose Sports Centre’ of 1425sq.m. with
144 parking spaces and subject to users being able to “pay and play” (i.e. not
requiring to become members).

Page 4

Page 5

4.

The original trigger point for the provision of a sports centre was on the completion of
the 2000th dwelling, which was reached in 2006. Approximately 2,900 dwellings are
now occupied out of the 3,300 approved. The applicant requested a variation to the
trigger point whilst an operator for the centre was found, and this was reported to
Planning Committee on 2nd December 2009. Members agreed to vary the trigger
point in the S106 to 1st December 2011 and also to authorise injunctive proceedings if
the timetable for the provision of the sports centre is not met. The timetable which, if
not met would result in injunctive proceedings, was set as:

5.

Submission of application by 24-3-10; Approval of application by the soonest of
13wks from submission or 23-6-10; submission of tender by the soonest of 5wks from
permission or 28-7-10; start on site by the soonest of 11wks from close of tender or
24-11-10; not to slip more than 8 weeks from the construction programme; and
completion by 1st December 2011.

6.

This application has been submitted in order to comply with the timetable for the
provision of the sports centre. The determination of the application within the statutory
thirteen-week period would result in SCDC fulfilling its obligation to facilitate the
delivery of the sports centre.
Planning Policy

7.

East of England Plan 2008:
SS1 - Achieving Sustainable Development
ENV7 - Quality in the Built Environment

8.

South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Core Strategy Development
Plan Document, adopted January 2007:
N/A

9.

South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Development Control Policies
DPD, adopted July 2007:
DP/1 - Sustainable Development
DP/2 - Design of New Development
DP/3 - Development Criteria
TR/2 – Car and Cycle Parking Standards

10.

Supplementary Planning Documents, adopted 2009:
District Design Guide SPD – Adopted March 2010

11.

Circular 11/95 (The Use of Conditions in Planning Permissions) - Advises that
conditions should be necessary, relevant to planning, relevant to the development
permitted, enforceable, precise and reasonable in all other respects.
Consultations

12.

Cambourne Parish Council – Comments will be reported verbally

13.

Sustrans – has objected to the application, as there is insufficient cycle parking for
clients and none for staff. The location of the cycle parking is also considered to be
unacceptable as it is too far from the entrance and is therefore not overlooked from
the premises.

Page 6

14.

SCDC Arts Officer – has requested that the developers make a payment towards art
interventions at Cambourne for community benefit.

15.

Police Architectural Liaison Officer – has requested the following:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)

16.

that adequate lighting of the car park be provided and that it be covered by
CCTV;
consideration be given to the fact that the open staircases are likely meeting
places and would allow access to upper doors;
consideration be given to providing a defensible planting strip along the
northern and eastern elevations to protect from graffiti;
the external doors to be of LPS standard;
for the internal door to the plant room to be either excluded or to be of the
same standard as the external doors; and
that internal CCTV monitor movement within the building.

Sport England – is pleased to see that recommendations made at the pre-application
stage have been incorporated into the proposed design. Sport England is happy to
support the application and wish to make some minor additional points:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)

the toilets should be accessible immediately on entering the changing rooms,
rather than crossing the changing areas;
people may cause the gated entry point to remain open at peak times if there
is not quick access into the facility;
the proposed studio does not have a ‘clear’ wall on which to site a mirror if this
is desired;
the water fountain would be better located to serve both gym and studio; and
windcatchers can cause problems for badminton players if air speed exceeds
1m per second.

17.

The County Archaeologist – has requested that a model condition be attached to
any consent that is granted.

18.

Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue Service – has requested that adequate provision
be made for fire hydrants, which may be by way of Section 106 agreement or a
planning condition.

19.

SCDC Ecology Officer – Has stated that the sports centre is particularly suitable for
the erection of swift boxes and requested that a scheme of ecological enhancement
be provided.
Representations

20.

E-mails in support of the application have been received from the owner/occupiers of
2 Oakwood Drive, 21 Miller Way and 21 Tithe Way (on behalf of Cambourne Tennis
Club).

21.

The owner/occupier of 39 Greenhaze Lane welcomes the leisure centre but is
disappointed that squash and swimming are not catered for.

22.

The owner/occupier of 4 Bullrush Lane has questioned where the outdoor sports
users are expected to change.

Page 7

Planning Comments – Key Issues
Design
23.

The sports centre has been designed to take reference from the other modern
buildings in Back Lane and from the surrounding natural environment on this edge
of village site. The functional requirements of the building have also influenced its
design as well as a desire for it to positively address Back Lane. The elevations
are proposed to be finished in timber cladding, with vertical elements, including
windows, to break up the horizontal expanse of the walls. The entrance is
highlighted by a red coloured canopy. The south eastern front corner of the
building would be a café which also has vertical floor-to-ceiling windows to provide
overlooking of the outdoor area.

24.

The building’s location within the site, and its internal layout and location of the
escape stairs, have been planned so that it has the ability to accommodate possible
expansion in the future. The design of the building also maximises solar gain and
involves technologies such as roof mounted windcatchers to allow the natural
circulation of air to ensure that energy usage is reduced.

25.

The comments of Sports England and the Police Architectural Liaison Officer will be
forwarded to the applicant for their attention. In the case of the former the comments
are based on the internal layout of the sports centre and are not matters to be
considered in the determination of this application. In the case of the latter the use of
defensive planting can be considered once a detailed scheme of landscaping is
submitted and the approval of a scheme of lighting will be required by way of a
condition. Although the Architectural Liaison Officer recommends the use of internal
and external CCTV, its use is a matter for the applicant to consider.
Landscaping

26.

The proposed landscaping will enhance the exiting vegetation and the development
will not result in the loss of any trees or significant vegetation. More detailed plans will
be secured by way of a standard landscaping condition. The requirement for
additional cycle parking will have an impact upon part of the proposed landscaping,
which is detailed below.
Compliance with the original Section 106 agreement

27.

The LDF policies detailed in this report are concerned more with the design and
impact of the sports centre rather than focussing on what facilities it provides. In
considering the acceptability of the facilities within the sports centre it is therefore
necessary to refer to the S106 agreement that was attached to the outline consent for
Cambourne, which has subsequently been amended.

28.

The Section 106 required that a sports centre with a gross internal floor area of 1,425
sqm be provided. This sports centre was to include a sports hall, ancillary hall, 2
squash courts, fitness room, health suite, changing rooms, a bar, a car park and have
a pay and play functionality.

29.

Since the signing of the S106 in 1994 there is a general consensus that these
requirements have become outdated and Planning Committee agreed to changes in
the specification of the sports centre in the S106 on 5th April 2006. The present
proposal is the result of consultation with Sport England, Council Officers and
Cambourne Parish Council, with the aim of securing a sports centre that is

Page 8

deliverable, financially viable, and meets the needs for Cambourne residents. The
operator of the sports centre, Active Nation, has resulted in a proposal that it believes
would be commercially viable.
30.

In comparison with the above schedule this proposal includes a sports centre that has
a gross internal floor area of 1,572 sqm, with a sports hall and gym both of which
have areas that exceed the requirements of the S106 and are more realistic. In
addition to the sports hall and gym there will be a dance studio, changing rooms,
social area and car park. The facilities will have a pay and play functionality.

31.

Although it is recognised that there is a need for permanent changing facilities for the
users of the outdoor sports pitches the sports centre is not required to provide such a
facility. It would therefore be unreasonable to refuse this application on the basis of
facilities that the local community has aspirations to see provided. Moreover there is a
further requirement in the original S106 Agreement for outdoor changing facilities to
be provided within a pavilion. At the Great Cambourne cricket pitch (on the south side
of Back Lane), the design of which officers are negotiating at the moment.
Provision of car and cycle parking

32.

This application proposes to extend the existing car park that is presently being used
to serve the bowling green, MUGA and sports fields. The applicant states that the
level of car parking provided is up to the maximum level allowed in the Section 106
(144 spaces), which breaks down into 109 spaces at the front of the site and 24 to the
rear (north). There are an additional 11-disabled parking spaces near to the entrance
of the building.

33.

In accordance with the standards for car parking provision detailed in the LDF the
maximum parking requirement for the sports centre alone would equate to only 71
spaces. However the total spaces that are required are also to serve the existing
bowling green, MUGA and sports pitches.
Presently only twenty cycle parking spaces are proposed, which falls well below the
figure of 63 that would be needed to accord with the standards for cycle parking
provision detailed in the LDF. In addition to an under provision of cycle parking the
proposed location of the cycle parking is unacceptable as it does not benefit from the
natural surveillance provided by the entrance and reception area of the building.

34.

The applicant has been made aware of this issue and has been requested to amend
the application in order to provide increased cycle parking, to be located at the front
of the building. This relocation is likely to result in a loss of part of the strip of
landscaping that is presently proposed at the front of the building, but is considered
acceptable
Public Art

35.

As this is a reserved matters application it would not be reasonable to request money
towards the provision of public art as this matter has already been considered, and
the requirement discharged, at the outline stage.
Drainage and others issues

36.

Officers are fully aware of issues regarding surface and foul water drainage at
Cambourne. Therefore conditions will be used to ensure that drainage schemes are
submitted for approval before development commences. In addition to this the works
will be inspected to ensure that they have been carried out in accordance with the

Page 9

approved details. In terms of foul water there is capacity at Uttons Drove to
accommodate a development of this scale.
37.

Further to the comments of SCDC’s Ecology Officer and Cambridgeshire Fire and
Rescue Service planning conditions will be used to secure the provision of a scheme
of ecological enhancement and fire hydrants.
Recommendations

38.

Approval – subject to the provision of amended plans demonstrating an increase in
the cycle parking provision being provided at the front of the building, delegated
powers are sought to approve the application, subject to the following conditions:
1.

Standard Condition A – Time limited permission (Reason A);

2.

Sc5a – Details of materials for external walls and roofs (Rc5aii);

3.

Sc51 – Landscaping (Rc51);

4.

Sc52 – Implementation of landscaping (Rc52);

5.

No development shall take place within the area indicated until the applicant,
or their agents or successors in title, has secured the implementation of a
programme of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of
investigation which has been submitted by the applicant and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.)
(Reason - To secure the provision of archaeological excavation and the
subsequent recording of the remains in accordance with Policy CH/2 of the
adopted Local Development Framework 2007.)

6.

The building, hereby permitted, shall not be occupied until covered and secure
cycle parking has been provided within the site in accordance with a scheme
to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
(Reason - To ensure the provision of covered and secure cycle parking in
accordance with Policy TR/2 of the adopted Local Development Framework
2007.)

7.

No development shall take place until a scheme of ecological enhancement
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The scheme shall include details of the features to be enhanced,
recreated and managed for species of local importance both in the course of
development and in the future. The scheme shall be carried out prior to the
occupation of any part of the development or in accordance with a programme
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. (Reason - To enhance
ecological interests in accordance with Policies DP/1, DP/3 and NE/6 of the
adopted Local Development Framework 2007.)

8.

No development shall take place until a scheme for the provision and location
of fire hydrants to serve the development to a standard recommended by the
Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue Service has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall
not be occupied until the approved scheme has been implemented.
(Reason - To ensure an adequate water supply is available for emergency use.)

Page 10

9.

No external lighting shall be provided or installed within the site other than in
accordance with a scheme which has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. (Reason - To ensure that the
proposed lighting provides sufficient security for the site in accordance with
Policy NE/14 of the adopted Local Development Framework 2007.)

10.

Prior to the commencement of any development, a scheme for the provision
and implementation of foul water drainage shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be constructed
and completed in accordance with the approved plans prior to the occupation
of any part of the development or in accordance with the implementation
programme agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. (Reason - To
reduce the risk of pollution to the water environment and to ensure a
satisfactory method of foul water drainage in accordance with Policy NE/10 of
the adopted Local Development Framework 2007.)

11.

Prior to the commencement of any development, a scheme for the provision
and implementation of surface water drainage shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme which will
include provision for inspections by the local Planning authority shall be
constructed and completed in accordance with the approved plans prior to the
occupation of any part of the development or in accordance with the
implementation programme agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority
(Reason - To ensure a satisfactory method of surface water drainage and to
prevent the increased risk of flooding in accordance with Policies DP/1 and
NE/11 of the adopted Local Development Framework 2007.)

Informatives - none
Reasons for Approval
1.

The approved development is considered generally to accord with the
Development Plan and particularly the following policies:
! South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2004: DP/1 (Sustainable
Development), DP/2 (Design of New Development), DP/3 (Development
Criteria) and TR/2 Car and Cycle Parking Standards

2.

The proposal conditionally approved is not considered to be significantly
detrimental to the following material planning considerations which have been
raised during the consultation exercise:
!
!
!
!
!
!

Lack of outdoor changing facilities within the sports centre
Cycle parking
Lighting and CCTV
Ecological enhancement
Landscaping
Drainage

Background Papers: the following background papers were used in the preparation of this
report:
! South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework (LDF) Development Control
Policies, adopted July 2007.

Page 11

! South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework (LDF) Supplementary
Planning Documents: District Design Guide.
! Circular 11/95.
! Planning File Refs: S/1371/92/O, and S/0507/10/RM.
Contact Officer:

Edward Durrant – Senior Planning Officer
Telephone: (01954) 713266

Page 12

This page is left blank intentionally.

Page 13

Agenda Item 5

SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

REPORT TO:
AUTHOR/S:

Planning Committee
2nd June 2010
Executive Director (Operational Services)/
Corporate Manager (Planning and New Communities)

S/0438/10/F - LONGSTANTON
Continued Use of Land as Immigration Reception Centre, Former Oakington
Barracks, Rampton Road for the United Kingdom Border Agency
Recommendation: Delegated Approval
Date for Determination: 23rd June 2010
Notes:
This application has been reported to the Planning Committee for determination
because it is a major development. The Officer recommendation is also contrary
to the response from one of the Parish Councils that was consulted.
Site and Proposal
1.

The existing immigration reception centre is located on the former Oakington
Barracks, which is situated to the south east of the village of Longstanton
and to the north of Oakington. The site has an area of approximately 22
hectares and comprises the former main accommodation blocks within the
barracks, the boundaries of which are fenced. It does not include the former
industrial units, hangers or runway area to the south of the site.

2.

A full planning application was received on 24th March 2010, for the continued
use of the land and buildings as an immigration centre, for a temporary period
up to 30th June 2013. The use of the site as an immigration centre falls within
use class C2A (secure residential institutions). Although a date in 2013 is
identified in the application documents the applicant hopes to vacate the site
by summer 2011.
Planning History

3.

S/2218/02/CIRC 18/84 - Continuation of use of land and buildings as an
immigration reception centre for a further temporary period of 2 years – no
objections.

4.

S/1172/04/CIRC 18/84 - Continuation of use of land and buildings as an
immigration centre for a further temporary period to 31 December 2006 – no
objections.

5.

S/7001/05/O - Application for the new settlement of Northstowe (up to 8,000
dwellings and associated development) – withdrawn.

6.

S/2424/06/F – Erection of 5.2 metre high security fence – refused due to the
visual impact and the increase in the perceived threat to the local community.

7.

S/2040/06/F – Continuation of use of land and buildings as an immigration
centre for a further temporary period to 31 December 2007 – refused, due to

Page 14

Page 15
the requirement of the proposed 5.2 metre high security fence to facilitate the
continued change of use.
8.

S/2333/07/F – Application for continued use of land and buildings as an
immigration centre to 30th June 2010. Approved subject to conditions
requiring the following:
(a)
(b)

(c)
9.

The development shall be for a temporary period up to 30th June 2010;
The Home Office shall undertake to hold annual liaison meetings open to
the local community and Parish Councils in Longstanton Parish for the
duration of this authorised use; and
The number of detainees held at the Centre shall not exceed 400.

S/7006/07/O – Application for the new settlement of Northstowe
(approximately 9,500 dwellings and associated development) – pending
decision.
Planning Policy

10.

East of England Plan 2008:
N/A

11.

South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Core Strategy
Development Plan Document, adopted January 2007:
N/A

12.

South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Development Control
Policies DPD, adopted July 2007:
DP/3 - Development Criteria

13.

Northstowe Area Action Plan, adopted July 2007
E3 – Delivering Northstowe

14.

Supplementary Planning Documents, adopted 2009:
N/A

15.

Circular 11/95 (The Use of Conditions in Planning Permissions) Advises that conditions should be necessary, relevant to planning, relevant to
the development permitted, enforceable, precise and reasonable in all other
respects.
Consultations

16.

Bar Hill Parish Council has not responded to the consultation.

17.

Cottenham Parish Council recommends approval.

18.

Histon and Impington Parish Councils have made no recommendation.

19.

Longstanton Parish Council recommends approval.

20.

Oakington and Westwick Parish Council recommends approval.

Page 16
21.

Over Parish Council has made no recommendation.

22.

Rampton Parish Council recommends approval.

23.

Willingham Parish Council recommends refusal, on the grounds of an
inappropriate location and could potentially delay the new town of
Northstowe.

24.

East of England LGA this proposal does not give rise to any conformity
issue with the East of England Plan (May 2008).

25.

GO- East is unable to comment in case the planning application comes
before the Secretary of State.

26.

The Environmental Agency has no objection, in principle, to the proposal.

27.

Police Architectural Officer has no objection to the application.

28.

The Highways Agency has no objection.
Representations

29.

A representation has been received from Gallagher Estates on behalf of the
Joint Promoters for Northstowe (Gallaghers Estates and the Homes and
Communities Agency). The Joint Promoters are grateful to the Home Office
for confirming their intention to vacate Oakington barracks in a timely manner
and that this is likely to be by summer 2011.
Planning Comments – Key Issues
Impact upon the delivery of Northstowe

30.

The previous application for a continued change of use of the site was
submitted several weeks before the outline application for Northstowe. The
application was then determined at a time when there was a clear timetable
for the delivery of the new town. Although all sides are still committed to the
delivery of Northstowe the project has slowed down and it has been well over
a year since officers last met with the Joint Promoters or their consultants in
order to discuss potential amendments to the outline application.

31.

Notwithstanding the fact that the determination of the Northstowe planning
application is presently delayed the applicant states that its lease of the site has
a three-month break clause that can be implemented by either the applicant or
the owner of the site, the Homes and Communities Agency. With this clause in
place the Joint Promoters have sufficient control of the site to allow for the
timely delivery of Northstowe, once planning consent has been granted. This
should therefore allay the concerns expressed by Willingham Parish Council.

32.

Although permission has been sought until 2013 the applicant hopes to
vacate the site before then. The request for a further three-year period is
considered appropriate in order to limit the need for the applicant to seek a
further planning consent if its target date to vacate the site is not met
Impact on the character and amenity of the area

33.

Unlike the two 2006 applications that were refused there are no physical
alterations that are proposed to facilitate the continued use of the land and
buildings as an immigration centre.

Page 17
34.

In terms of the location of the development with the delay in the delivery of
Northstowe this site, which has already been modified to house detainees,
would most likely become derelict once vacated by the applicant. The
continued use of the site allows for the buildings to be kept in a good condition.
In addition to this the Centre’s staff also contribute positively to the local
economy.
Compliance with the conditions of S/2333/07/F

35.

Condition 1: This application has been submitted within an appropriate
timescale to ensure that a new, time limited planning consent can be in place
before 30th June 2010, which is the date when the existing consent expires.

36.

Condition 2: Community liaison meetings have been held on 28th April 2008
and 23rd July 2009. Although no meeting has yet been held this year by
attaching the same condition to this planning consent the applicant would be
required to hold a meeting within three months of the grant of planning
permission.

37.

Condition 3: The applicant has confirmed that the number of detainees shall
not exceed 400.
Staffing and Traffic

38.

Approximately 300 staff are employed at the reception centre working on a
range of shifts and in a variety of positions. There is no proposal to increase
the number of staff or detainees. Therefore the transport movements to and
from the site will remain the same.
Other

39.

The applicant has provided supporting information regarding the general
profile of the detainees, which includes a small proportion awaiting
deportation following a prison sentence. The proportion of these detainees,
who have not committed serious crimes, remains minimal and their detention
is subject to a rigorous risk assessment procedure.
Recommendation

40.

Delegated powers are sought to approve the application subject to the
following conditions:
1. The change of use hereby permitted shall be for a temporary period up to
30th June 2013 or such other date, to be notified by the Local Planning
Authority, whichever is the sooner.
(Reason – To ensure that the use of the site as an immigration reception
centre does not hinder the timely delivery of Northstowe, in accordance
with Policy E3 of the adopted Northstowe Area Action Plan 2007.)
2. The United Kingdom Border Agency shall undertake to hold annual
liaison meetings open to the local community and Parish Councils in
Longstanton Parish for the duration of this authorised use, or until such
time as the use hereby permitted ceases. The first of which is to be held
within 3 months of the grant of this planning permission.
(Reason – To monitor and control in the interests of public amenity, in
accordance with the Policy DP/3 (j) of the adopted Local Development
Framework 2007.)

Page 18
3. The number of detainees held at the Centre shall not exceed 400.
(Reason - To avoid pressure to increase the Centre site area and
infrastructure, in accordance with the Policy DP/4 of the adopted Local
Development Framework 2007)
Informatives - none
Reasons for Approval
1.

The approved development is considered generally to accord with the
Development Plan and particularly the following policies:
! South Cambridgeshire Local Plan 2004: DP/3 (Development
Criteria)
! Northstowe Area Action Plan 2007: E3 (Delivering Northstowe)

2.

The proposal conditionally approved is not considered to be significantly
detrimental to the following material planning considerations which have
been raised during the consultation exercise:
! Impact upon the delivery of Northstowe
! Inappropriate location

Background Papers: the following background papers were used in the preparation
of this report:
! South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework (LDF) Development
Control Policies, adopted July 2007.
! Northstowe Area Action Plan, adopted July 2007.
! Circular 11/95.
! Planning File Refs: S/2218/02/CIRC, S/1172/04/CIRC, S/7001/05/O,
S/2040/06/F, S/2424/06/F, S/2333/07/F and S/7006/07/O.
Contact Officer:

Edward Durrant – Senior Planning Officer
Telephone: (01954) 713266

Page 19

Agenda Item 6

SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

REPORT TO:
AUTHOR/S:

Planning Committee
Executive Director (Operational Services)/
Corporate Manager (Planning and New Communities)

2nd June 2010

S/0452/10/F - BARRINGTON
Ménage at Land to the Northwest of, Cedarwood House (West Green),
Accessed off Orwell Road for Mr Michael Brunner
S/0453/10/F - BARRINGTON
Change of Use of Land From Agricultural to Horse Grazing, Horse Livery (Private),
including Erection of Stables, Barn, Horse Exerciser and Access Driveway at Land to
the Northwest of, Cedarwood House (West Green), Accessed off Orwell Road
for Mr Michael Brunner
Recommendation: Approval
Date for Determination: 26th May 2010
Notes:
This Application has been reported to the Planning Committee for determination
because Barrington Parish Council recommended Refusal.
Members will visit this site on 2nd June 2010
Site and Proposal
1.

The application site consists of 5 hectares of agricultural land, is located outside the
village framework and adjacent to the Conservation Area, which runs along the rear
of the properties along West Green from Cedarwood House down to the junction with
Orwell Road.

2.

There is one listed dwelling located to the west of the site along Orwell Road and
there are 3 more listed dwellings whose gardens back onto the application site from
West Green.

3.

To the northwest of the site are four silos and two agricultural barns. The area to the
north is open countryside. The site is set back from the road by 60m. The boundary
treatment consists of post and rail fencing and 5-bar gate securing the site.

4.

The full applications were received 31st March 2010. Planning application reference
S/0452/10/F proposes a Ménage measuring 42m by 22m, which is to be located
immediately behind existing redundant farm buildings between the site and the road.
The ménage is proposed to have a grassed bank around it.

5.

Planning application reference S/0453/10/F proposes to change the use of the land
from agricultural to horse grazing. It also proposes a horse livery area for private use,
which includes the erection of a stable block between the existing agricultural
buildings and the proposed ménage measuring 29m by 11.5m and 2.4m to the eaves,

Page 20
S-0452-10-F - Barrington

Scale 1/1250

Reproduced from the 2008 Ordnance Survey mapping with
the permission of the controller of Her Majesty's stationary
office (c) Crown Copyright.Unauthorised reproduction infringes
Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.

Date 14/5/2010

Centre = 538670 E 249630 N

June 2010 Planning Committee

Page 21
S-0453-10-F

Scale 1/2500

Reproduced from the 2008 Ordnance Survey mapping with
the permission of the controller of Her Majesty's stationary
office (c) Crown Copyright.Unauthorised reproduction infringes
Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.

Date 14/5/2010

Centre = 538776 E 249677 N

June 2010 Planning Committee

Page 22

3.35m to the ridge. The stable block includes 6 stables with wash down area, tack
and storage rooms.
6.

The proposal also includes a barn measuring 10m by 5m, with an eaves and ridge
height similar to the stables. The barn is proposed to be located to the northwest of
the site. The barn and the stables are of timber construction.

7.

Consent is also sought for a horse exerciser to be located at the side of the ménage
on the north of the site and is proposed to have a diameter of 15m. The driveway into
the livery area is to be laid with hardstanding.
Planning History

8.

S/0135/09/F – Change of use of land from agricultural to horse grazing, horse livery
(private), including erection of stables, barn, horse exerciser and access driveway –
Withdrawn.

9.

S/0137/09/F – Ménage – Withdrawn
Planning Policy

10.

South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework (LDF) Development
Control Policies, adopted July 2007
Policy DP/1 Sustainable Development
Policy DP/2 Design of New Development
Policy DP/3 Development Criteria
Policy DP/7 Development Frameworks
Policy CH/2 Archaeological Sites
Policy CH/4 Development
Policy NE/4 Landscape Character Areas
Policy NE/14 Lighting Proposals
Policy NE/15 Noise Pollution
Policy NE/17Agricultural land
Policy TR/1 Planning for more sustainable travel
Consultation

11.

Barrington Parish Council
S/0452/10/F - Recommends Refusal
(a)

The ménage forms part of the proposed development in application
S/0453/10/F and has to be considered alongside it. Therefore the points
raised by the Parish Council in its refusal of S/0453/10/F are linked to this
application.

S/0453/10/F – Recommends Refusal
(a)

The Parish Council is concerned over the size of the development which is
meant to be for personal/private use. It appears to be a very large
development.
If approval is given it should be limited to current ownership.

Page 23

(b)

(c)

(d)
(e)
(f)
(g)

12.

Application does not address sufficiently the requirements for waste
management. No timing given for removal of waste from site. Not clear if
liquid waste is being discharged into the sewer or local watercourse.
There is a major risk of pollution from the site into the nearby ditch system,
which flows through West Green Pond to the River along an awarded
watercourse.
Traffic concerns have not been addressed in terms of volume and types of
vehicles.
Nearby houses would be overlooked by the development due to the rising
ground and would be affected by noise and by lights.
Jumps should not be placed anywhere near the residential properties as it
would be unacceptable in terms of noise and loss of residential amenity.
The change of use so near to established residential development does not
follow through previous planning decisions, it is valuable agricultural land.

Environmental Health Officer
Planning reference S/0452/10/F
(a)

No significant impact on noise and pollution.

Planning reference S/0453/10/F
(a)
(b)
13.

Would recommend that a pest control scheme is in place with professional
contractor, with any documentation available upon request.
No significant impact on noise.

County Archaeology
Archaeological investigation has taken place and it is has been found that there are
no archaeological remains present; therefore there are no objections to the start of
works on the site.

14.

Conservation Officer
Recommends approval:
The site is not in the Conservation Area and it is presumed that the consultation is
due to the nearby listed building. The proposed site is some distance from the listed
building and the proposals will have no impact on its setting. There are concerns
about the impact of the proposal on the countryside and I presume these will be
considered in relation to current policies.

15.

Landscape Officer
The proposed hedge and tree planting will provide necessary screening to the
proposed stables, barn and horse exerciser. The applicant needs to state the
spacing between the trees. The varied spacing should be between 10 and 15m. The
tree planting should be extended along the boundary of the field as discussed on site.
A smaller scale plan is required marking the extent of the hedge and trees section,
and the trees without hedge section.

Page 24

16.

Local Highways Authority
Request that a condition is added that the livery and stables are for private use only.
It also requests conditions that gates should be 20m at least from the edge of the
highway; the access should had a minimum width of 5.5m for a minimum distance of
10m from the edge of the highway; visibility splays should be provided at 2.4m by
215m; provision of adequate drainage to prevent surface water run off onto the
adjacent public highway; and finally the need to use unbound material for the
driveway.
Representations

17.

Peter Jolly on behalf of Owners/Occupies of 14 Orwell Road, Barrington
(a)

(b)

(c)
(d)

(e)
(f)

(g)

(h)

18.

Owner/Occupier of 12 Orwell Road, Barrington
(a)
(b)

19.

Applicants seem to be determined to gain unrestricted use of the 5 hectare
site for a wide range of equestrian activities. In particular, it is not clear where
mobile jumps are to be placed and this is wholly unacceptable and planning
consent should not be granted on good intentions.
Jump course should be confined to a prescribed area of land away from
residential properties and this should be defined on a plan. If planning
permission is granted as it currently stands the jumps could be placed
anywhere in the fields or at any time to suit the applicants.
Would like a condition restricting the use of field shelters on this site or that
planning permission is required in accordance with Policy NE/4.
The provision of stables for up to 8 horses with supporting training facilities
would appear to be excessive for private use of one locally based family. If
planning consent is granted the Council should request a Section 106 (S106)
agreement to ensure that the stables and equestrian facilities are for domestic
purposes only.
The land should remain as agricultural land.
Owners of a strip of land beyond the gardens of those properties adjoining the
site were advised by the Council that this land needed to remain in agricultural
use to protect the landscape and these similar circumstances should apply to
this site also.
The erection of these buildings and equestrian facilities with a network of
enclosures would spoil the natural character and appearance of this attractive
and distinctive landscape character contrary to Policy NE/4. It would also
impact on the wider setting of the listed building at 14 Orwell Road, which is
contrary to Policy CH/4 and PPG15.
There are strong grounds for refusing these applications. However, if the
Council takes a different view, the planning conditions and a S106 should be
imposed to ensure that the equestrian activities and the use of the land are
properly restricted to safeguard the amenities of local residents.

The land has been in use over 40 years for food production and there are
concerns about valuable agricultural land being taken out of this category.
The buildings on site would also change the farming outlook into a
recreational site.

Owners/Occupiers 40 West Green, Barrington
(a)

The scale, content and position of the proposals remain of great concern.

Page 25

(b)
(c)

(d)

(e)
(f)
(g)
(h)

(i)
(j)

20.

Owner/Occupier of 44 West Green, Barrington
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)
(g)
(h)
(i)
(j)

21.

Provision is for 8 horses, would like S106 agreement if planning consent is
granted requiring that it remains for private use only.
The character of the area would be further eroded by proliferation of
structures in open countryside were this to be allowed. The applicants do not
take into account the feelings of local residents who will have to live with this
development on a daily basis.
Would like condition to be applied to the site with regards to waste
management scheme in terms of muck heaps, contract details of pest control
firm.
Increase in potential highway safety issues.
Welcomes that the landscaping scheme has been addressed by the Council’s
Landscape Officer.
A lighting plan should be required.
Policies should be applied to this site as it was to proposed garden land at the
rear of nearby residential properties where residents were not allowed to
change agricultural land to garden land.
Lack of information for instance where are the jumps to be placed
It is believed that the application should be refused, however, if consent is
granted it should be conditioned to take into consideration the concerns of
neighbours.

The development is in conflict with the Conservation Area and the buildings
are of excessive bulk & scale and introduce unnatural features into the area.
The development will spoil the natural contours and is incompatible with the
design of existing buildings nearby.
Traditional field patterns will be destroyed and visually damage landscape.
It will result in loss of high quality agricultural land.
It will over look adjoining properties.
It will generate noise, disturbance, smells and pollution.
The use will carry on during unsociable hours of operation.
It will dominate nearby buildings and conflict with the pattern of development.
Prejudice highway safety.
There are better alternative sites.

Owners/Occupiers of 36 West Green, Barrington
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)
(g)

Contrary to Policy NE/4 as it will impact negatively on the open countryside.
Lighting proposed would be harmful to wildlife and residential amenity.
Limited information provided on waste management at the site, run-off is a
potential problem and emissions from the site.
Vehicular movements, use of the horse walker etc could generate noise
nuisance.
Highway safety as there will be an increase in the use of the site, which has
limited visibility.
Parking designation seems to be significant for what is a private use.
Concerns about what the private use would entail. Request that condition is
added to any consent stipulating that this is for personal/private use only not
commercial.

Page 26

Planning Comments – Key Issues
Residential Amenity
22.

The proposed buildings/structures are to be located in the northwest corner of the site
behind the existing disused agricultural buildings and within close proximity to the
access to the site.

23.

The proposed barn and stable are considered to be modest in scale, form and in
height (3.35m to the ridge), and the applicants have worked with the Council’s
Landscape and Design Officer to development an appropriate landscaping scheme to
minimise the impact of the proposal. Most of the activity will take place where the
buildings are proposed with the horses using the field for grazing. The properties
along West Green have long rear gardens with good screening along the boundary
and the development has been positioned as far away from Orwell Road residents as
possible. It is not considered that overlooking would be a problem in this instance.

24.

It is proposed to have low level lighting inside the buildings and in the stable yard. No
floodlighting is proposed. The layout is as such as to minimise light spillage to
properties on West Green and Orwell Road. If consent is granted, a condition could
be imposed to control external lighting to reduce potential impact on residential
amenity.

25.

Noise from the site was also a concern of nearby residents. The site is for private
use for stabling of 6 horses and the Environmental Health Officer has confirmed that
there are no concerns with regards to noise.

26.

Again if the application is granted consent it can be conditioned to be for private use
only and that no trade or business can take place from the site.
Loss of Agricultural Land and Countryside Impact

27.

The land is currently in agricultural use and is classified as grade 2. This means that it
comprises the best and most versatile land, and is a national resource. Land outside
village frameworks are restricted to that required for agriculture, horsiculture, forestry,
outdoor recreation and other uses which need to be located in the countryside. The
proposal is therefore still considered to be a suitable use for the land and could easily
revert back to agricultural use if required. This is in accordance with Policy NE/17
Protecting High Quality Agricultural Land.

28.

It has been argued by objectors that there will be a proliferation of buildings in the
countryside if this application is granted consent. However, these buildings are
located nearby an existing cluster of disused agricultural buildings in front of the site
and the proposed structures are located within a cluster also and not spread across
the site. If additional field shelters/structures were to be required in the future
planning consent would be required as there are no permitted development rights for
buildings designed to house horses.

29.

If jumps and markers are placed within the site these are not uncommon features in
rural areas and would not necessarily be considered to detract from the appearance
of the countryside. The applicant has submitted a landscaping scheme to mitigate
the impact of the proposal, which the Councils’ Landscape and Design Officer
generally supports with some minor adjustments.

Page 27

30.

A condition could be placed on any consent restricting where these structures are
placed. However, I am not convinced that there is a need to do so considering the
scale of the site and the relationship of adjacent residential properties.
Listed Building Impact and Conservation Area

31.

It is not considered that the proposal would impact significantly on the listed building
or the Conservation Area; this is due to the distance of the proposed
buildings/structures from the listed building and Conservation Area. The buildings are
to be located near to the northwest boundary of the site while the listed building and
Conservation Area is located to the west and south east of the site.
Environmental Health Issues

32.

The Environmental Health Officer had no objections to the proposal in terms of noise
or environmental pollution but recommends a pest control scheme is in place with a
professional contractor, with any documentation available upon request. The
application states in the Design and Access Statement and via email dated 10 May
2010, that there is an existing contract with a pest control contractor and that this
would be continued to include this site should planning consent be granted. A
condition can be imposed requesting details of a scheme to deal with waste produced
on site.
Planning application for conversion of garden land

33.

It would appear that the owners of nos. 8, 10, 12, and 14 Orwell Road, Barrington,
acquired land directly behind these properties, which was originally part of the
application site. The owners of no. 12 Orwell Road sought planning consent to
change the use of this land from agricultural to garden land. However this was
refused, as “the change of use of the land residential garden land would visibly alter
the rural character of the area as it would result in a significant expansion of the
boundary of the village that is presently clearly defined by the rear boundaries of
numbers 8, 10, 12 and 14 Orwell Road. This expansion of the village boundary would
result in a significant encroachment into the surrounding countryside by residential
curtilages with all the domestic paraphernalia that they contain. The proposed change
of use would therefore be contrary to policy DP/3 of the South Cambridgeshire Local
Development Framework 2007, which seeks to retain countryside character”.

34.

The above application is different to that of the current proposal in that the
domestication of this land in question would result in an encroachment of residential
use into the countryside. However, horsiculture is an expected use in the countryside
and one that is acceptable under Policy DP/7.
Highways Issues

35.

The site already has an existing access from Orwell Road, which was granted
consent by planning application S/0686/06/F. It has already been laid with hardcore.
There is also an existing 5-bar metal gate setback 20m from the near edge of the
highway. The access is shared with the adjacent field. New hardcore/hardstanding
will be laid within the fenced area of the site leading into what will be the stable yard.

36.

The Local Highway Authority has raised no objections to the proposal. It does
request that several conditions are added to any planning consent. The design and
access statement states that vehicular movements to the site will be minimal with 2-3
car movements in the mornings and in the evenings, with deliveries of hay and

Page 28

bedding taking place every 6 weeks with the vet making regular visits to the site 5
times a year which could be more if the horses are ill or injured. It is not considered
that highway safety would be compromised in this instance if the conditions are
adhered to as the development at the site is on a relatively small scale.
37.

The proposal under both planning applications are considered to comply with Policies
DP/1, DP/2, DP/3, DP/7, CH/2, CH/4, NE/4, NE/14, NE/15, NE/17 of the South
Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework, Development Control Policies,
adopted July 2007. I therefore recommend these planning applications for approval.
Recommendation

38.

Approval
Conditions
1.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3
years from the date of this permission. (Reason - To ensure that
consideration of any future application for development in the area will not be
prejudiced by permissions for development, which have not been acted upon.)

2.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
following approved plans Barn Elevations and Plan, Stable Elevations,
Stables Plan View, Tree Planting Plan, Landscaping Plan, Site Plan Scale
1:500, Site Plan Scale 1: 500 showing existing entrance, fencing and gate all
date stamped 21 March 2010. (Reason - To facilitate any future application to
the Local Planning Authority under Section 73 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990.)

3.

The change of use of land to horse grazing, horse livery including stables,
barn, ménage and horse exerciser, hereby permitted, shall be for private
purposes only and no trade or business shall be carried on therefrom.
(Reason – Only the impact of a private use has been considered by this
planning application there if the site is to be use for commercial purposes the
impact of this would have to be assessed separately in terms of impact on
residential amenity, the countryside and in the interests of highway safety in
accordance with Policy DP/3, NE/4 of the adopted Local Development
Framework 2007.)

4.

No external lighting shall be provided or installed within the site other than in
accordance with a scheme which has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. (Reason -To minimise the effects of
light pollution on the surrounding area and residential amenity in accordance
with Policies DP/3 and NE/14 of the adopted Local Development Framework
2007.)

5.

No development shall commence until details of a pest control scheme have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority; the
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
(Reason - Insufficient information was submitted with the application to assure
the Local Planning Authority exactly how waste will be managed at the site to
control pests and not create a nuisance to comply with Policy DP/3 of the
adopted Local Development Framework 2007.)

Page 29

6.

Prior to commencement of the use hereby permitted any gate or gates to the
vehicular access shall be set back a minimum of 20m from the near edge of
the highway boundary. Any access gate or gates shall be hung to open
inwards. (Reason – In the interest of highway safety.)

7.

The access shall be a minimum width of 5.5m, for a minimum distance of 10m
measured from the near edge of the highway boundary. (Reason – In the
interests of highway safety.)

8.

Prior to the commencement of the use hereby permitted visibility splays of
2.4m x 215m shall be provided each side of the vehicular access measured
from along the highway boundary. Such splays shall thereafter be maintained
free from obstruction exceeding 0.6m above the level of the highway verge.
(Reason – In the interests of highway safety.)

9.

The access shall be constructed with adequate drainage measures to prevent
surface water run-off onto the adjacent public highway, in accordance with a
scheme submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The access shall be constructed as approved. (Reason – To prevent surface
water discharging to the highway.)

10.

No unbound material shall be used in the surface finish of the driveway within
6 metres of the highway boundary of the site. (Reason: To avoid
displacement of loose material on to the highway in the interests of highway
safety.)

The development is not considered to be significantly detrimental to the following
material planning considerations, which have been raised during the consultation
exercise:
!
!
!
!

Residential Amenity
Impact on Listed Building and Conservation Area
Loss of Agricultural Land and Impact on Countryside
Highway Safety

Background Papers: the following background papers were used in the preparation of this
report:
!

!

S/0135/09/F – Change of use of land from agricultural to horse grazing, horse livery
(private), including erection of stables, barn, horse exerciser and access driveway –
Withdrawn.
S/0137/09/F – Ménage – Withdrawn

Contact Officer:

Laura Clarke Jones – Planning Officer
Telephone: (01954) 713092

Page 30

This page is left blank intentionally.

Page 31

Agenda Item 7

SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

REPORT TO:
AUTHOR/S:

Planning Committee
Executive Director (Operational Services)/
Corporate Manager (Planning and New Communities)

2nd June 2010

S/0107/10/F & S/0108/10/LB – STEEPLE MORDEN
Extension at The Hay Loft, 67 Hay Street
For Ms A Dodd and Mr A Fison
Recommendation: Refusal
Date for Determination: 25th May 2010
Notes:
This Application has been reported to the Planning Committee for determination at the
request of an elected Member of the District Council.
Members will visit the site on 2nd June 2010
Site and Proposal
1.

The dwelling at 67 Hay Street is a Grade II Listed Building dating from the early
19th century and is constructed of timber frame and clay bat. The dwelling is located
within the linear pattern of dwellings along Hay Street and is positioned parallel and
close to the road. The site falls within the village framework and Conservation Area of
Steeple Morden.

2.

The planning application, registered on 30th March 2010, seeks approval to erect a
two storey extension, which would be sited to the southern elevation of the existing
dwelling and would extend from the existing side gable by 3.6m at first floor level and
1.5m at ground floor level. The extension would provide a lift to allow access to the
enlarged first floor bedroom to meet the needs of the disabled occupant. The
materials of the extension are proposed to be similar to the existing white render and
roof slate of the existing building. Currently the applicant is confined to the ground
floor and sleeps in the dining room at the opposite end of the house.
Planning History

3.

The dwelling is believed to have been modernised in the Mid 1980s and a two storey
extension of 7 metres added, although the planning consent for these works is not
held on current records. The cottage was further extended by a single storey dining
room and bathroom on the south and west elevations (S/2049/98/LB, S/2050/98/F,
S/0410/00/F and S/0409/00/LB).
Planning Policy

4.

National Policy
Planning Policy Statement 5 Planning for the Historic Environment

1

Page 32
S-0107-10-F - Steeple Morden

Scale 1/1250

Reproduced from the 2008 Ordnance Survey mapping with
the permission of the controller of Her Majesty's stationary
office (c) Crown Copyright.Unauthorised reproduction infringes
Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.

Date 14/5/2010

Centre = 528647 E 242983 N

June 2010 Planning Committee

Page 33

5.

Local Development Framework Development Control Policies (Adopted July
2007):
DP/1 (Sustainable Development), DP/2 (Design of New Development), DP/3
(Development Criteria), DP/7 (Development Frameworks), CH/3 (Listed Buildings)
and CH/5 (Conservation Areas).
Local Development Framework Supplementary Planning Documents:
Development Affecting Conservation Areas SPD - Adopted January 2009
Listed Buildings SPD - Adopted July 2009
Consultation

6.

Steeple Morden Parish Council Recommend approval with all materials in keeping
with the existing building.

7.

Listed Building Officer Recommends refusal. Whilst sympathetic to the needs of the
owner, officers consider the proposal would harm the special character and
appearance of this 19th Century timber framed and clay bat cottage by increasing the
bulk and massing of the existing extension and physically dominating the front, rear
and side elevations of the property and, as such, would significantly detract from the
appearance of the building and the historic plan form. The proposal is therefore
considered to be contrary to Policy CH/3 and Policies HE7 (7.1, 7.2 and 7.4) and HE9
(9.1. 9.2 and 9.4) of Planning Policy Statement 5 and PPS 5 Planning Policy Practice
Guidance (including 86, 111, 178 and 182).
Representations

8.

District Councillor Mrs Murfitt – I wish the application to be decided by members for
the following planning reasons:
(a)
(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)
(f)
(g)

(h)

No historic fabric is involved in the proposed construction of the lift shaft. It
involves cutting through a 2000 extension. The upstairs gable is 1970s.
It will make hardly any difference to the street scene and will probably be
barely noticeable. The house is screened along its entire frontage by a high
hedge that reaches just about to the upstairs window sills.
Neighbours at number 65 are 9.5 metres away. Their side window is a
stairwell or landing. There are no windows proposed on the lift shaft.
Therefore there is no effect on these neighbours.
The neighbours to the right and left and opposite have no objections and in
fact support the application not just for sympathetic reasons but because they
feel it would make very little difference to the house.
To call this a 2-storey extension is misleading. It’s a lift shaft to enable access
to the large bedroom and bathroom upstairs.
A lean-to, which adds nothing to enhance the Listed Building, will be removed.
To suggest the present sitting-room could accommodate an extension further
out into the back garden is unreasonable bearing in mind the large
expenditure incurred by the applicant to achieve wheelchair access to the
house in order for Mrs Dodd to be allowed home from Stoke Mandeville
Hospital. The work involved to achieve this would be wasted. Further all
drains are at the roadside front of the building.
At the moment, the historic part of the building has been turned into a hospital
ward, which has detracted considerably from the internal historic fabric. To be

2

Page 34

(i)

(j)

(k)

blunt, a full sized hospital bed in one room and necessary exercise equipment
in the other mean nobody can appreciate the historic fabric. This lift shaft
would enable Mrs Dodd to use the large upstairs bedroom and bathroom and
thus restore the 2 downstairs rooms to their former state.
I discussed with the applicants whether they would be prepared to agree a
condition that the lift shaft should be removed if there were no further use for it
(e.g. if they moved) and they would agree to this. I have since been informed
by the department that this could not be allowed.
The applicants are not seeking to extend their living space and increase the
value of their house. In fact they want to be able to use the living space they
already have for its original purpose. It is now a hospital ward not a dining
room and not space visitors can use. They wish they did not need to ask for
the lift shaft. With the lift shaft, the domestic space in the house could be
returned to its proper living and social space and the quality of life of both Mrs
Dodd and Mr Fison could be greatly improved.
Conservation and planning policies are important but we are also supposed to
be a caring council.

Planning Comments – Key Issues
9.

The key issues to be judged in the determination of the application are the impact of
the development on the Grade II Listed Building and the personal circumstances of
the applicant.
Impact on the Listed Building

10.

The proposal is assessed with close regard to historic environment policy, which
seeks to preserve the significance of listed buildings and ensure that historic buildings
remain the main features following any changes. Planning Policy Statement 5 carries
significant weight in the determination of planning applications, which affect the
historic environment. Particularly relevant to this application is Policy HE9.1 which
states the following: ‘There should be a presumption in favour of the conservation of
designated heritage assets and the more significant the designated heritage asset,
the greater the presumption in favour of its conservation should be. Once lost,
heritage assets cannot be replaced and their loss has a cultural, environmental,
economic and social impact. Significance can be harmed or lost through alteration or
destruction of the heritage asset or development within its setting.’ Policy HE9.2 goes
on further to say, ‘Where the application will lead to substantial harm to or total loss of
significance local planning authorities should refuse consent unless it can be
demonstrated that: i) the substantial harm to or loss of significance is necessary in
order to deliver substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss; or ii)(a) the
nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site...’

11.

Even where a proposal has a perceived harm to a heritage asset which is considered
to be less than substantial harm Planning Policy Statement 5 states that, ‘in all cases
local planning authorities should: (i) weigh the public benefit of the proposal (for
example, that it helps to secure the optimum viable use of the heritage asset in the
interests of its long-term conservation) against the harm; and (ii) recognise that the
greater the harm to the significance of the heritage asset the greater the justification
will be needed for any loss.’ The justification put forward in the application is clearly
understood but heritage policy does not allow the Council to give special weight to the
needs of individual owners; instead the impact of the changes must be balanced
against the best general use (in this case residential) and the significance that the
building holds for future generations.

3

Page 35

12.

The floor area of the original cottage is estimated to have been extended by 108% at
present and the cumulative impact of the proposed extension would be an increase of
120% resulting in a large modern proportion to the historic cottage. The two storey
scale and form of the proposed extension is contrary to guidance set out in
paragraphs 4.12 and 4.13 of Supplementary Planning Document Listed Buildings,
which outlines that works to a Listed Building should be subservient to the original
building and two storey extensions will generally not be supported. The proposal,
together with existing extensions, reduces any distinction between what is historic
and what is modern and the increase in the bulk and massing of the existing
extension would physically dominate the front, rear and side elevations of the
property detracting from the character and identity of the Listed Building.

13.

Officers are sympathetic to the needs of the owner and have sought to find a solution
which is less harmful to the Listed Building. The Conservation Team have been
involved in lengthy pre-application discussions and have suggested an alternative
that extends the existing single storey rear extension, that is currently used as a study
and day room, to the south to incorporate a bathroom. This would enable the existing
bathroom to be converted for the lift, thereby reducing the size of the proposed
extension by 1.5m at first floor level and avoiding further extensions to the footprint of
the building. The owner did not want to accept this alternative for reasons of cost,
disruption and some reduction in space at first floor level.
Residential Amenity

14.

The development would be sited close to the immediate neighbour to the south at 63
Hay Street but would not have a significant impact on the amenity of this
neighbouring property.
Conclusion

15.

In this case, the development is considered to cause significant harm to the character
and identity of the Grade II Listed Building and in such circumstances the local
planning authority is guided by national planning policy to give presumption in favour
of conserving the building and its special architectural or historic interest.
Recommendation

16.

That the application is refused, for the following reasons:
The proposal would harm the special character and appearance of this 19th century
Grade II Listed timber framed and clay bat cottage by increasing the bulk and
massing of the existing extension and physically dominating the front, rear and side
elevations of the property and as such would significantly detract from the
appearance of the building and the historic plan form. The proposal is therefore
considered to be contrary to Policy CH/3 of the South Cambridgeshire Local
Development Framework Development Control Policies DPD 2007 (DPD) and
Policies HE7 and HE9 of Planning Policy Statement 5: Planning for the Historic
Environment (including HE7.1, 7.2, 7.4 and HE9.1, 9.2 9.4) and PPS 5 Historic
Environment Planning Policy Practice Guide (including 86, 111, 178 and 182).

4

Page 36

Background Papers: the following background papers were used in the preparation of this
report:
Circular 11/95 – Use of Conditions in Planning Permissions
National Planning Policy Statements
South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework (LDF) Development Control
Policies, adopted July 2007.
! Development Affecting Conservation Areas SPD - Adopted January 2009
! Listed Buildings SPD - Adopted July 2009
! Planning File Refs: S/2049/98/LB, S/2050/98/F, S/0410/00/F and S/0409/00/LB.
!
!
!

Contact Officer:

Andrew Winter – Planning Officer
Telephone: (01954) 713082

5

Page 37

Agenda Item 8

SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

REPORT TO:
AUTHOR/S:

Planning Committee
Executive Director (Operational Services)/
Corporate Manager (Planning and New Communities)

2nd June 2010

S/0329/10/F - GUILDEN MORDEN
Proposed Extensions at 1 Little Green Cottages, Little Green
For Mr Ross Nuten
Recommendation: Refusal
Date for Determination: 16th June 2010
Departure Application
Notes:
This application has been reported to the Planning Committee as the Local
Member has requested it. The Chairman of Planning Committee and the Head of
Planning have agreed to the request.
Members will visit this site on 2nd June 2010
Site and Proposal
1.

1 Little Green Cottages is a semi-detached dwelling on a 0.082 hectare site
outside the village framework. To the north of the site is the property of Little
Green Farm. The road of Little Green defines the eastern boundary of the site.
To the south of the site is a country track and open fields. To the west of the site
is the attached property of 2 Little Green Cottages.

2.

The application, validated on the 22nd April 2010, is for a side and rear extension.
The application was amended on the 22nd April 2010 in order to correct the site
area. The proposed development was advertised as a departure from the
development plan on 18th May 2010.

3.

The proposed development seeks to construct two storey extensions on the side
and rear elevation of the existing property. The side extension will be built on top
of the existing ground floor extension that is used as a kitchen/dining space. The
proposed side extension, that will form an additional bedroom, will measure
approximately 3.8m x 6.5m, with a height of 7.5m. The rear extension, to create
an en-suite and bathroom, will measure approximately 3m x 5.5m, with a height
of 7m.
Planning History
Relevant Site History

4.

S/0954/84/F – The application for the proposed extension was approved. This
extension is currently used on the property for the kitchen/dining room.

Page 38
S-0329-10-F - Guilden Morden

Scale 1/1250

Reproduced from the 2008 Ordnance Survey mapping with
the permission of the controller of Her Majesty's stationary
office (c) Crown Copyright.Unauthorised reproduction infringes
Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.

Date 14/5/2010

Centre = 528104 E 244932 N

June 2010 Planning Committee

Page 39

5.

S/1628/09/F – The application for the proposed two storey extension was refused
on the grounds that it did not comply with Policy HG/6, as it would lead to 136%
increase in floorspace over the original dwelling and reduce the number of
small/medium sized properties within the countryside.
Relevant Nearby Site History
2 Little Green Cottages:

6.

S/1407/87/F – The application for the proposed extension was approved. This
application was for a two storey side extension to form a kitchen/diner space with
a hall at ground level and a bedroom at 1st floor level.

7.

S/0283/93/F – The application for the proposed extension was approved. This
extension increased the size of the kitchen and added an en-suite at 1st floor.

8.

S/0020/97/F – The application for the proposed double garage and playroom was
approved.
Planning Policy

9.

South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework (LDF) Development
Control Policies, adopted July 2007:
DP/2 – Design of New Development
DP/3 – Development Criteria
HG/6 – Extensions to Dwellings in the Countryside
Consultation

10.

Guilden Morden Parish Council – The Parish Council recommends approval.
The Parish Council considers that Policy HG/6 should be set aside and that the
argument presented justifying this action is accepted. (Following amendment)
The Parish Council maintained its recommendation for approval.
Representations

11.

Cllr Murfitt – The Local Councillor states that this cottage originally had 3
bedrooms but the bathroom was outside in an outbuilding with no covered
access from the house. One of the bedrooms was converted to a bathroom. The
proposed application would bring the house back to a 3 bedroom dwelling. It is
the view of the Councillor that this will maintain a small property within the
countryside. The Local Councillor goes on to state that with the development
being in the countryside very few people will be affected by it and the
development will not generate any extra traffic.

12.

The Local Councillor makes reference that the Local Planning Authorities in
Bedfordshire (Central Bedfordshire Council) and North Hertfordshire allowing
very large extensions to properties within the countryside. The Local Councillor
also makes reference to the applicant’s personal status and the value of the
property.

13.

A full copy of the letter submitted by Cllr Murfitt can be found in the application
folder.

Page 40

Planning Comments
14.

The main planning considerations for this development are the principle of the
development; does it preserve or enhance the visual appearance of the area; and the
impact upon residential amenity.

15.

The principle of the development. The site is located outside of the village
framework and the original extension for the kitchen/dining room has increased the
floorspace by approximately 50% over the original building. The additional extension
would lead to an increase in floorspace of over 100% from the original building. The
proposed development, therefore, is considered not to comply with Policy HG/6 1.c as
it would lead to the doubling in size of this small property from its original size.

16.

The agent has stated that the proposed development would lead to 1 and 2 Little
Green Cottages being once more in symmetry. It should firstly be noted that both two
storey extensions at No.2 were approved before Policy HG/6 was adopted in July
2007. It secondly should be noted that the dwelling of No.2 currently has a two storey
frontage of approximately 8.8m, while No.1 has currently a two storey frontage of
5.3m. If the proposed development was approved the two storey frontage of No.1
would be 9.4m, thus making 1 Little Green Cottages the dominant property of the pair.
Officers are of the view that the proposed development would not improve the visual
relationship between the two properties. The proposed development will also not lead
to the two cottages being in symmetry and for this reason it is considered that this
argument is invalid and does not lead to an exceptional circumstance to allow the
granting of planning approval for this development.

17.

The second argument submitted is that the dwelling was originally a three bedroom
house and the proposed extension would reinstate the original accommodation. The
previous extension (S/0954/84/F) increased the floorspace by approximately 50%;
this floorspace could have been used to create an additional bedroom or bathroom
but was used for a kitchen/dining room space. The existing property is considered to
meet modern standards and it is not considered that the replacement of a bedroom,
that leads to an additional increase in floorspace of approximately 50%, justifies the
non-compliance with Policy HG/6.

18.

The third argument that the size and position of the external walls of the proposed
extension line up with the ground floor extension is not considered to hold any
significant weight. It is noted that the lining up of the 1st floor extension with the
previous ground floor extension might demonstrate that the proposal is of an
acceptable design but again it demonstrates that the original dwelling would be
significantly increased in both mass and scale.

19.

The agent has also pointed out that the property is unlikely to be within the price
range of a first time buyer. It should be noted that Policy HG/6 refers to the protection
of both small and medium sized properties within the countryside and not the
protection of specifically affordable homes. However, if the dwelling continues to grow
in size not only will lead to the loss of a fairly small property but also would likely
make it even less affordable.

20.

In response to the comment made by the Local Councillor regarding other nearby
Local Planning Authorities allowing significantly larger extensions; it must be noted
that each Local Council approves its own specific policies in order to meet the
requirements of that particular district. Policy HG/6 refers to the need to limit the
increase of dwellings in the South Cambridgeshire District countryside in order to
maintain the stock of both small and medium sized properties.

Page 41

21.

It is considered that no exceptional circumstance has been provided in order to
justify the development as a departure to Policy HG/6.

22.

Impact upon the visual appearance. The proposed external materials will match
those of the existing building. The proposed development seeks to remove the
existing front wrap around extension with the proposed two storey side extension
being in line with the original front wall and matching the original ridge height. The
proposed removal of the front wrap around that is part of side extension approved
under S/0954/84/F is considered to lead to a slight visual improvement. However,
while the design is in keeping, the proposed 1st floor extension would add a significant
amount of mass to the property and does not lead to symmetry between 1 and 2 Little
Green Cottages. It is, therefore, considered that the proposed development will have
significant impact upon the character of the area, by reason of its scale.

23.

Impact upon residential amenity. The additional windows in the proposed
development facing towards the rear are to serve the proposed landing, bathroom
and en-suite and the balcony window will overlook open fields. The rear facing
windows while not being obscurely glazed would not significantly overlook the
neighbouring property more than the existing rear windows that serve a bathroom and
bedroom. The proposed development is also considered not to cause any significant
increase in overbearing or light loss on the adjacent property of 2 Little Green.

24.

Conclusion. It is the view of officers that this planning application should be refused
on the grounds mentioned below. If members are of the view that the planning
application should be approved, then this application will not be required to go before
the Secretary of State.
Recommendation

25.

Refuse
The semi-detached two bedroom dwelling is located outside of the Guilden Morden
village framework. The proposed extension would lead to an over 100% increase in
floorspace over the original dwelling size. As a result, the proposed development is
considered to have a significant impact upon the surrounding countryside in this rural
location, and would lead to the loss of the relatively small existing sized dwelling
within the countryside. The proposed development is therefore contrary to Policy
HG/6 of the South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework Development
Control Policies, adopted in July 2007, which states extensions to dwellings in the
countryside will only be permitted where the extensions does not lead to a 50%
increase or more in volume or gross internal floor area of the original dwelling. No
exceptional circumstances have been put forward with the application to justify a
departure from this policy.

Background Papers: the following background papers were used in the preparation of
this report:
!
!

South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework (LDF) Development Control
Policies, adopted July 2007
Planning Files ref: S/0329/10/F, S/0988/08/F and S/1628/09/F

Contact Officer:

Andrew Phillips, Planning Officer
Telephone: 01954 713169

Page 42

This page is left blank intentionally.

Page 43

Agenda Item 9

SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

REPORT TO:
AUTHOR/S:

Planning Committee
2nd June 2010
Executive Director (Operational Services)/
Corporate Manager (Planning and New Communities)

S/0330/10/F – GREAT SHELFORD
Erection of Three Dwellings (Revised Design) at 66 Cambridge Road for David Reed
Homes Limited
Recommendation: Approval
Date for Determination: 21 May 2010
Notes:
This Application has been reported to the Planning Committee for determination
because the recommendation of approval is opposed by Great Shelford Parish
Council.
Site and Proposal
1.

The application relates to plot numbers 3, 4 and 5 in a development of 9 houses
which is currently under construction. These three plots are located to the rear of an
existing house at 68 Cambridge Road. To the north west, and the estate adjoins the
development of detached houses at Marfleet Close. To the south east, the estate
adjoins a development of detached houses at The Hectare. Access to the site has
been formed by demolishing the dwelling at 66 Cambridge Road and providing a 5.5
m driveway between numbers 64 and 68 Cambridge Road.

2.

Planning permission for the erection of three houses on this land has already been
granted under reference S/0569/07/F.

3.

The full application, validated 26 March 2010, proposes the following:
Plot 3: a corner plot with a detached 4-bedroomed house with a floor area of 281
sqm, with a ridge height of 8.4m;
Plots 4 and 5: a semi-detached pair of 3-bedroomed dwellings each with a floor area
of 102 sqm, with ridge heights of 8.3m.

4.

Compared with the previously approved scheme:
a) the plots of the detached house and the semi-detached pair have swapped;
b) the floor area of the detached house has increased by 59%;
c) the distance of proposed bedroom windows to the rear boundary with 68
Cambridge Road on Plots 4 and 5 (directly to the rear) has been reduced from
12.2m to 10.2m. The number of first floor rear bedroom windows has increased
from 1 to 4. The distance to nearest window in Plot 3 (obliquely to the rear) has
increased from 8.5m to 10.5m.
d) ridge heights are similar to those previously approved.
Planning History
S/1743/09/F

Plots 3, 4 and 5: Amended design

Withdrawn 19.2.10

Page 44
S-0330-10-F

Scale 1/1250

Reproduced from the 2008 Ordnance Survey mapping with
the permission of the controller of Her Majesty's stationary
office (c) Crown Copyright.Unauthorised reproduction infringes
Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.

Date 18/5/2010

Centre = 545736 E 253140 N

June 2010 Planning Committee

Page 45

S/1034/09/F

Plot 6: Amended design

Approved 14.9.09

S/1033/09/F

Plot 9: Amended design

Approved 14.9.09

S/1414/08/F

Dwelling (Plot 9)

S/1799/07/F

8 houses following demolition of existing house (Plots 5 – 8 amended
designs)- Approved 15.11.07

S/0596/07/F

8 houses following demolition of existing house

S/2411/06/F

8 houses following demolition of existing house

Approved 10.10.08

Approved 20.8.07.
Withdrawn

Policies
5.

East of England Plan 2008
SS1 Achieving Sustainable Development
ENV7 Quality in the Built Environment
South Cambridgeshire Core Strategy 2007
ST/4 Rural Centres

6.

South Cambridgeshire Development Control Policies 2007
DP/1 Sustainable Development
DP/2 Design of New Development
DP/3 Development Criteria
DP/4 Infrastructure and New Developments
DP/5 Cumulative Development
DP/7 Development Frameworks
NE/6 Biodiversity
TR/2 Car and Cycle Parking Standards
District Design Guide SPD 2010

7.

Great Shelford Village Design Statement (2004)

8.

Circular 11/95 (The Use of Conditions in Planning Permissions)
Consultations

9.

Great Shelford Parish Council: Recommendation of refusal. The increase in floor
area of the house originally on Plot 5, from around 89sq m to 155 sq m represents an
unacceptable scaling up of the development on the site. The proposal to replace a
single house on Plot 5 with 2 houses will be more intrusive for the occupiers of No.68
who in addition will be overlooked by 4 windows immediately to the rear of them and 4
from Plot 3. The bulk and scale of the dwelling on Plot 3 will be intrusive to the street
scene. The original layout as approved on August 20th 2007 should be adhered to.
Representations

10.

Objection has been received from the occupiers of 68 Cambridge Road, on the
following grounds:

Page 46

a)

b)
c)
d)
e)
f)

there are now two houses to the rear instead of one, resulting in four windows
directly overlooking the rear garden, which will be located only 10 metres from
the boundary fence;
there will also be overlooking from windows in the rear elevations of houses on
Plots 3 and 9;
this will be extremely overbearing and imposing and a huge intrusion on the
occupiers’ privacy;
the semi-detached houses will look out of place squeezed between two very
large detached houses. The previously approved layout looked much better.
There will be more noise and intrusion from two families instead of one using
their rear gardens;
The whole site has become over-developed, overcrowded and overbearing.

Planning Comments
11.

The current proposal represents the fifth change to the original scheme approved
under S/0596/07/F. The main concerns relating to this proposal are neighbour amenity
and street scene impact.
Neighbour amenity

12.

The concerns raised refer to the amenity of the occupiers of 68 Cambridge Road. The
proposal will introduce additional bedroom windows at first level located 10.2m from
the rear screen fence. This will introduce a greater degree of overlooking over the
rear garden of the property than previously approved in S/0596/07/F. Members will
note that the rear garden of No.68 has a depth of approximately 19m and that the
minimum window-to-window distance between properties will be 29m. These are
reasonable distances and, on balance, it is not considered that the additional harm to
privacy represented by the current proposal is not so serious as to justify a refusal of
planning permission. Any additional noise and disturbance arising from two gardens
is also likely to be mitigated by the distance between properties. If approved, it is
recommended that permitted development rights for future extensions and windows
on the rear elevations be removed.

13.

The proposal will improve the amenity to the rear garden of the dwelling approved on
Plot 9 by giving it a more open aspect and access to sunlight compared to the
previously approved layout.
Street Scene

14.

The side and rear elevations of the detached house on Plot 3 show a variety of roof
form, articulation and materials which will contribute to the character of the
development when viewed from Cambridge Road and the estate road. The forward
projecting wing on the front elevation of Plot 3 will partially obscure the view of the
group of houses when approaching around the corner of the access road, but not to
the extent that the visual interest of the development would be seriously affected. The
ridge heights of dwellings are similar to those previously approved.
Recommendation

15.

In accordance with the application dated 1 March 2010, approve subject to conditions:

Page 47

Conditions
1.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration
of 3 years from the date of this permission.

(Reason - To ensure that consideration of any future application for
development in the area will not be prejudiced by permissions for
development which have not been acted upon.)
2.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance
with the following approved plans: Drawing nos 10002-01, 10002-02,
10002-04.
(Reason - To facilitate any future application to the Local Planning Authority
under Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.)

3.

No development shall take place until details of the materials to be used
in the construction of the external surfaces of the buildings hereby
permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with
the approved details.
(Reason - To ensure the appearance of the development is satisfactory in
accordance with Policy DP/2 of the adopted Local Development Framework
2007.)

4.

No development shall take place until full details of both hard and soft
landscape works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. These details shall include indications of all
existing trees and hedgerows on the land and details of any to be
retained, together with measures for their protection in the course of
development. The details shall also include specification of all proposed
trees, hedges and shrub planting, which shall include details of species,
density and size of stock.

(Reason - To ensure the development is satisfactorily assimilated into
the area and enhances biodiversity in accordance with Policies DP/2
and NE/6 of the adopted Local Development Framework 2007.)
5.

No development shall commence until full details of a scheme for the
provision of a replacement orchard has been supplied to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall contain details
of the timing of all plantings, tree species, stock size, tree positioning,
and ground preparation for optimal survival in accordance with good
agricultural practice. The scheme shall be carried out as approved, and
where trees have failed to sustain adequate growth they shall be replaced
within a period of five years from the implementation of the scheme as
agreed in writing. None of the trees within the scheme shall be removed
without the prior permission of the Local Planning Authority.
(Reason - To ensure that the development compensates for the loss of
existing orchard habitat and provides landscape enhancement in order to
comply with Policy P7/2 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Structure
Plan 2003 and Policies DP/4 and NE/6 of the South Cambridgeshire
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2007.)

6.

All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance
with the approved details. The works shall be carried out prior to the
occupation of any part of the development or in accordance with a

Page 48

programme agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. If within
a period of five years from the date of the planting of any tree that tree,
or any tree planted in replacement for it, is removed, uprooted or
destroyed or dies, another tree of the same species and size as that
originally planted shall be planted at the same place, unless the Local
Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation.

(Reason - To ensure the development is satisfactorily assimilated into
the area and enhances biodiversity in accordance with Policies DP/2
and NE/6 of the adopted Local Development Framework 2007.)
7.

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any order revoking and
re-enacting that Order with or without modification), no development
within Classes A (the enlargement, improvement or other alteration of
dwellinghouse) or B (the enlargement of a dwellinghouse consisting of
an addition or alteration to its roof) of Part 1 of Schedule 2 of the Order
shall take place unless expressly authorised by planning permission
granted by the Local Planning Authority in that behalf.
(Reason - To safeguard the privacy of adjoining occupiers in accordance with
Policy DP/3 of the adopted Local Development Framework 2007)

8.

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any order revoking and
re-enacting that Order with or without modification), no windows, doors
or openings of any kind, other than those expressly authorised by this
permission, shall be constructed in the rear elevations of the dwellings,
hereby approved, at and above first floor level, unless expressly
authorised by planning permission granted by the Local Planning
Authority in that behalf.
(Reason - To safeguard the privacy of adjoining occupiers in accordance with
Policy DP/3 of the adopted Local Development Framework 2007.)

9.

During the period of demolition and construction, no power operated
machinery shall be operated on the site before 0800 hours and after 1800
hours on weekdays and 1300 hours on Saturdays, nor at any time on
Sundays and Bank Holidays, unless otherwise previously agreed in
writing with the Local Planning Authority.

(Reason - To minimise noise disturbance for adjoining residents in
accordance with Policy NE/15 of the adopted Local Development
Framework 2007.)
Informatives
1. Conditions applied to planning permissions S/1799/07/F and S/0596/07/F apply to the
wider development area and must be read in conjunction with this planning permission.
Background Papers: the following background papers were used in the preparation of this
report:
East of England Plan 2008
South Cambridgeshire Core Strategy 2007
South Cambridgeshire Development Control Policies 2007
South Cambridgeshire District Design Guide 2010
Great Shelford Village Design Statement 2006

Page 49

Circular 11/1995 Use of Conditions in Planning Permissions
Planning file refs: S/0330/10/F, S/1743/09/F, S/1034/09/F, S/1033/09/F, S/1414/08/F,
S/1799/07/F, S/0596/07/F, S/2411/06/F.

Contact Officer:

Ray McMurray – Principal Planning Officer
Telephone: (01954) 713259

Page 50

This page is left blank intentionally.

Page 51

Agenda Item 10

SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

REPORT TO:
AUTHOR/S:

Planning Committee
Executive Director (Operational Services)/
Corporate Manager (Planning and New Communities)

2nd June 2010

S/0014/10/F - WILLINGHAM
Erection of 19 Dwellings
At Land to the South of Brickhills for Mr Andrew Greed
Recommendation: Delegated Approval
Date for Determination: 13th July 2010
This Application has been reported to the Planning Committee for determination as
part of the site is owned by the District Council, and an objection has been received
from the Parish Council.
Members will visit this site on 2nd June 2010
Site and Proposal
1.

The site is located within the Willingham village framework, and is located close to the
existing residential areas of Brickhills to the north, Rockmill End to the east and
Church Street to the south. The eastern section of the site represents a small area of
agricultural/grassland. The western section of the site is formed from the long rear
gardens of the properties at Church Street. The southern boundary of the site is
adjacent the Willingham Conservation Area, whilst 45-47 Church Street to the south
are listed buildings.

2.

Access to the site would be from Brickhills to the north, which forms a cul-de-sac
accessed from Wilford Furlong further northwards. The north end of the site along
Brickhills is owned by South Cambridgeshire District Council. The northern boundary
along the rear gardens to the dwellings of Brickhills is a 1.8m high fence, with some
hedging alongside. This fence is panelled alongside the two-storey properties, but is
a chain link fence by the bungalows to the eastern end of Brickhills. The eastern
boundary is some low hedging and trees. The southern boundary alongside 15 and
17 Rockmill End is a 1.8m high panel fence. These two properties are a chalet
bungalow and two-storey property respectively. The site consists of a number of
garden boundaries in its western side, consisting of hedging and fencing of various
heights. The land to the east of the site is the beer garden to the former Three Tuns
public house, now a restaurant.

3.

The full application, validated on 6th January 2010, seeks the erection of 19 dwellings
on the land. This would include six affordable units. The application is accompanied
by a Viability Appraisal, a Design and Access Statement, a Transport Statement, A
Flood Risk Assessment and a Planning Statement.

Page 52
S-0014-10-F - Willingham

Scale 1/1250

Reproduced from the 2008 Ordnance Survey mapping with
the permission of the controller of Her Majesty's stationary
office (c) Crown Copyright.Unauthorised reproduction infringes
Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.

Date 14/5/2010

Centre = 540739 E 270552 N

June 2010 Planning Committee

Page 53

Planning History
4.

Planning application S/2196/06/F was approved for nine dwellings following
demolition of the existing dwelling and outbuildings at 37 Rockmill End. This is
located to the northeast of the proposed application site.

5.

There have been various planning applications made on various parts of the site,
although none are considered relevant to the determination of this application.
Planning Policy

6.

Local Development Framework Core Strategy Development Plan Document
2007:
ST/5 Minor Rural Centres

7.

Local Development Framework Development Control Policies (LDF DCP) 2007:
DP/1 Sustainable Development, DP2 Design of New Development, DP/3
Development Criteria, DP/4 Infrastructure and New Development, DP/7 Development
Frameworks, HG/1 Housing Density, HG/2 Housing Mix, HG/3 Affordable Housing,
HG/4 Affordable Housing Subsidy, SF/6 Public Art and New Development, SF/10
Outdoor Playspace, Informal Open Space, and New Developments, SF/11 Open
Space Standards, NE/1 Energy Efficiency, NE/3 Renewable Energy Technologies in
New Development, NE/6 Biodiversity, NE/9 Water and Drainage Infrastructure, NE/10
Foul Drainage – Alternative Drainage Systems, NE/11 Flood Risk, NE/14 Lighting
Proposals, NE/15 Noise Pollution, CH/4 Development Within the Curtilage or Setting
of a Listed Building, CH/5 Conservation Areas, TR/1 Planning for More Sustainable
Travel & TR/2 Car and Cycle Parking Standards.

8.

Development Affecting Conservation Areas SPD, Open Space in New
Developments SPD, Public Art SPD, Trees and Development Sites SPD,
Affordable Housing SPD & District Design Guide SPD.

9.

Circular 11/95 – The Use of Conditions in Planning Permissions: Advises that
conditions should be necessary, relevant to planning, relevant to the development
permitted, enforceable, precise and reasonable in all other respects.

10.

Circular 05/2005 - Planning Obligations: Advises that planning obligations must be
relevant to planning, necessary, directly related to the proposed development, fairly
and reasonably related in scale and kind and reasonable in all other respect.
Consultation

11.

Willingham Parish Council recommends refusal of the original plans and
amendments on grounds that insufficient investigation appears to have been carried
out in regards to drainage and flooding issues. There is also inadequate access
through a sheltered housing estate. The application appears overly dense and
appears not to be in character with the nearby conservation area.

12.

The Council's S106 Officer has been involved in numerous discussions and
meetings since the submission of the application. He has been advising on the
Section 106 package and using the GVA Grimley economic appraisal tool to look at
outcomes of the various affordable housing scenarios.

13.

The Council's Housing Development and Enabling Manager has also been
involved in the pre-application discussions regarding the site, and the negotiations

Page 54

following submission. It is noted that the applicant is proposing only 6 affordable
units, below the usual 40% provision, although this is accepted in principle. The
tenure proposed is four shared ownership and two affordable rented units, which is
opposite to that proposed in the Affordable Housing SPD. There are concerns the
initial purchase share of the shared ownership units would be limited to those who
can only afford a 50% stake, making them unaffordable for prospective purchasers. It
is considered essential for them to begin at 30% in line with the Affordable Housing
SPD. The proposed tenure mix is therefore unsupported.
14.

The Local Highways Authority has confirmed they would seek to adopt the road,
and note that although they are not the parking authority, there are concerns
regarding an under-provision. A condition regarding bicycle parking facilities is
recommended. Following the submission of the amended plans, the turning area and
footpaths, particularly to the east of the site, are considered acceptable.

15.

The Old West Internal Drainage Board notes the site area is outside the Old West
Internal Drainage District but in an area that drains into it. The FRA states that the
drainage strategy seeks to contain water on site via the use of infiltration techniques
and if required, a level of source control. If water is contained on site via infiltration
methods, the Board’s surface water receiving system will not be affected and the
Board will not object to this.

16.

The Council's Drainage Manager has commented regarding the original plans, and
notes serious concerns regarding the surface water drainage proposals. A
watercourse runs through the site that drains a substantial area of the village. It is
classified as a Riperian drain, and its upkeep or maintenance is the responsibility of
the owners of the land through which it runs. Soakaways are likely to be unsuitable. A
suitable sustainable drainage system is required.
Following these comments, the Council's Drainage Manager has been in discussions
with the applicants consultants, and a new surface water strategy has been produced
to address concerns. This involves the re-routing of the existing underground
watercourse and allow for future maintenance/repairs. The proposal is considered
satisfactory subject to details through a surface water drainage condition.

17.

The County Council Education Team requires a contribution as Willingham Primary
School is currently full. A figure of £39,900 is requested.

18.

The Police Architectural Liaison Officer notes the area has had 10 reported crimes
in the last 2 years, 7 of which have been vehicle related. Statistically, a cul-de-sac is
less likely to attract crime. There is good surveillance throughout the site, apart from
plot 19 which is not overlooked. It is recommended that the bungalow is handed.
There are minor concerns regarding the recesses to the front of plots 13 and 14. It is
recommended that to achieve Code for Sustainable Homes application, whereby
each dwelling should achieve Section 2 Secured by Design. This will require PAS 24
doors and B.S.7950 windows.

19.

The Council's Landscape Officer notes the architecture is a refreshing change,
although there are some concerns regarding the colour of the panels. There are no
objections to the layout subject to a landscaping condition. There should be a 1m gap
between the road and acoustic fence to allow suitable planting.

20.

The Council's Trees Officer has no objection to the scheme

Page 55

21.

The Council's Environmental Health Officer notes some concerns regarding noise
disturbance, and therefore suggests conditions regarding timescales for the use of
power operated machinery during construction, driven pile foundations, details of
external lighting, and an informative regarding bonfires and the burning of waste.

22.

The County Council New Communities Team has no comments regarding the
scheme.

23.

Sustrans objects to the proposal as the layout gives a long and convoluted access to
the facilities of the village, discouraging cycling and walking. This would militate
against community values, and generate traffic along Brickhills.

24.

The Council Archaeology Team notes that the site is located in an area of high
archaeological potential in the historic village of Willingham. Archaeological
investigation of land to the east found medieval structures, whilst Roman and early
medieval remains were found to the south. A condition is recommended for a
programme of investigation.
Representations

25.

Letters of objection have been received from the occupiers of 15 properties regarding
the original and amended plans. Objections are on the following points:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)
(g)
(h)
(i)
(j)
(k)
(l)
(m)
(n)
(o)
(p)
(q)
(r)
(s)
(t)
(u)

Safety concerns relating to playing children
Overly dense development
Noise and disturbance from the Open Space
Location of bins against boundary walls
Increase in traffic and related noise and disturbance
Poor parking in Brickhills and the low number of spaces on the proposed site
Impact upon the culvert, “Common Shore” which passes through the site and
flooding implications
Impacts from street lighting
Loss of light to the gardens of Brickhills and Rockmill End
Overlooking towards all neighbouring dwellings as whole
Disturbance due to construction traffic and the proximity of the roadway to
Brickhills
Mud on the roads
The previous refusal in 2003
Concerns regarding design and materials
The loss of a willow tree, and trees by 17 Rockmill End
Loss of private views across agricultural land
Potential for the scheme to be left unfinished
Impact upon the adjacent Conservation Area and Listed Buildings
Potential subsidence
Devaluation of properties
Difficulties for emergency vehicles

Planning Comments – Key Issues
26.

The key issues to consider in this instance are the principle of development, the full
Section 106 package, the impact upon the occupiers of adjacent properties, design
and the impact upon the street scene, flooding and drainage, highway safety and
parking provision, the impact upon the adjacent Conservation Area and Listed
Buildings.

Page 56

The Principle of Development
27.

Willingham is classified as a Minor Rural Centre in the LDF Core Strategy 2007,
where residential development up to a maximum scheme size of 30 dwellings per
hectare will be permitted within village frameworks. Such villages have a reasonable
level of services and facilities to allow capacity for such developments. The scheme
therefore falls within the development criteria. The policy also states that where a
material burden is placed on the existing village services, the District Council can
secure financial contributions at an appropriate level through a Section 106
agreement. This is considered in depth below.

28.

The site has an area of approximately 0.458 hectares and the proposal seeks 19
dwellings. Policy HG/1 of the LDF Development Control Policies 2007 seeks
residential developments to make best use of a site by achieving average net
densities of at least 30 dwellings per hectare, and higher average densities of at least
40 dwellings per hectare should be achieved in more sustainable locations. This
development achieves 41 dwellings per hectare, in line with the target and aims of the
policy. Willingham has a number of services and facilities within the village, and is
therefore has the capacity in this location for the density of dwellings proposed.
The Full S106 Package

29.

The scheme relates to a development of 19 dwellings. Of these, the applicant is
offering 6 to be affordable dwellings. Policy HG/3 of the LDF DCP 2007 seeks 40% or
more of dwellings to be affordable. 6 units out of 19 represents 32% of units. A
scheme of 8 would represent 42% and be the figure usually sought for a site of this
size. Criteria 3 of the policy states within individual developments, the proportion and
type of affordable housing will be the subject of negotiation with applicants. Account
will be taken of any particular costs associated with any such scheme and other
viability considerations. This therefore does allow for a lower provision providing it
can be proven that providing 40% is not viable. The applicant is committed to
providing 6 affordable units, £43,500 for public open space provision, £39,900
towards education as requested by the County Council and £1,500 towards section
106 monitoring. No public art provision has been included within the heads of terms.
Council officers have met with the applicant on several occasions to ascertain the
best section 106 package whilst still allowing for a positive residual land value.
Members should be aware that no contributions towards community facilities are
proposed, as this was not sought during the pre-application discussions.

30.

The applicant has provided an analysis of the scheme using the HCA recommended
economic appraisal tool, as per the adopted Affordable Housing SPD (GVA Grimley
model). The assessment has been accompanied by supporting information in respect
of offers from registered providers, cost of site abnormals, comparable sale revenues
and corporate bank lending rates. These have not been verified by an independent
expert, nor has the build cost factored in to the model.

31.

I note the comments from the Council's Housing Development and Enabling Manager
regarding the affordable and tenure mix proposals. Given the discussions, she is
satisfied that the Council can accept a lower proportion of affordable housing for the
site. However, she is unable to support the proposed tenure mix. The proposal seeks
2 social rented dwellings and 4 intermediate houses.

Page 57

32.

Paragraph 3.13 of the Affordable Housing SPD states “The district wide targets for
tenure mix in new affordable housing is 70% social rent and 30% intermediate
housing. They are the appropriate targets because they:
(a)

(b)
(c)

33.

Conform to the needs identified in the Strategic Housing Market Assessment
for at least the first 5 years covered by the study (SHMA May 2008- Source
Chapter 30 Table 6);
Respond to the greatest amount of need (rented housing) but it still produce
balanced sustainable developments;
Are close to the Council’s current practice which has shown itself to be viable
and deliverable.”

The Housing Development and Enabling Manager feels Members may feel it helpful
to read paragraphs 5.4-5.14 of the Affordable Housing SPD. This is to ensure
Members are aware of the reasoning behind the tenure mix and interpretation of
Policy HG/3. The next paragraphs are those taken from the Affordable Housing SPD.
“5.4 Policy HG/3 of the Development Control Policies DPD provides for negotiation
over the proportion and type of affordable housing, to take account of any particular
costs associated with the development and other viability considerations, the relative
priority of other planning considerations and the need to achieve mixed and balanced
communities. In the case of financial viability considerations the following procedures
will apply.
5.5 There will be a presumption that the development will include full and appropriate
provision for affordable housing unless it is demonstrated that it cannot be provided at
a rate of 40% or more of the dwellings in a development. The onus is therefore on a
developer to demonstrate that viability would be jeopardised by this level of provision.
This will require a full economic appraisal of the costs of development and of returns
from the sale of housing to show what sum could be made available for affordable
housing.
5.6 The methodology, underlying assumptions and any software used to undertake
this appraisal should be agreed with the Council, with the normal approach being the
current methodology endorsed by the Homes and Communities Agency, which is the
economic appraisal tool prepared by GVA Grimley. The tool is endorsed by the HCA
to assist Local Planning Authorities and developers negotiate and agree the viability
of planning obligations generally. The toolkit also helps development partners
demonstrate how grants from the National Affordable Housing Programme (NAHP)
will help them deliver more affordable housing over and above the level that can be
supported from planning obligations alone.
5.7 Any consideration of viability must look at the overall package of requirements on
a development and the Council’s objective will be to secure at least 40% affordable
housing through any prioritisation of contributions, if possible. Indeed, as set out in
Chapter 3 on the amount of affordable housing, if testing demonstrates that a higher
level of affordable housing provision is viable, the Council will seek a higher
proportion of affordable housing, consistent with Policy HG/3 and the level of housing
need in the district (see also Chapter 3, Amount of Affordable Housing).
5.8 Where the Council needs independent advice to validate a viability appraisal
submitted by an applicant that seeks to justify a variation on the 40% or more target
include in Policy HG/3, reasonable costs will be met by the developer/applicant.

Page 58

5.9 The financial appraisal should be presented on a residual land value basis taking
into account all the reasonable costs of the development including required
contributions to local services and infrastructure, the provision of affordable housing
and a reasonable profit margin to the developer. It should also include a valuation of
the site in its existing, or in the case of a vacant or derelict site, its last use, i.e. before
any application for residential development, not its purchase price or hope value. The
appraisal should accompany the planning application or preferably form part of preapplication negotiations.
5.10 If there are particular development costs associated with a specific site, over and
above what would typically be expected on a development, e.g. contaminated land,
these may adversely impact on the costs of a development. Any information provided
will be treated as commercially sensitive and dealt with confidentially and will not be
disclosed to any third party without the written consent of the applicant.
5.11 Where the Council is satisfied that financial viability of a development would be
jeopardized by full provision of the affordable housing target, and taking into account
any other planning obligations, it will first negotiate over varying the preferred mix and
tenure of dwellings with a view to establishing whether this would enable the 40%
target to be met, and if this cannot be achieved in a way that addresses needs in an
acceptable way, the Council will then negotiate over varying the percentage of
affordable housing being sought.
5.12 If an initial percentage of less than 40% is agreed, the S106 Agreement will
include provisions for a review mechanism such that if the development is not
completed within 3 years of the date of the planning permission, a further
consideration of viability will be carried out at that stage (and every 3 years thereafter)
for the purposes of determining whether the percentage of affordable housing should
increase for the balance of the development still to be completed and any revision
should not be limited to 40% but may increase to cover a shortfall of less than 40%
on an earlier part of the development.
5.13 Policy HG/4 of the Development Control Policies DPD provides for the
exceptional circumstances where there is a considerable time lag between the grant
of planning permission and implementation, which has adverse implications in terms
of the financial viability of the scheme or where insurmountable subsidy issues occur.
For example, where development does not start for a number of years after planning
permission is granted, financial viability may change from that assessed at the time of
granting planning permission, particularly if there are significant changes in economic
conditions. This may also apply to major developments where development takes
place over a long period of time, although this eventuality will be taken into account in
the framing of the Section 106 agreement forming part of any permission. Another
scenario may be where planning permission was granted for a particular proportion of
affordable housing on the assumption that Social Housing Grant would be available
and by the time that development commences this proves not to be available.
5.14 Under such exceptional circumstances, the Council will be prepared to review
the planning permission, and if it considers that the applicant /developer has made a
sound case, it may be prepared to renegotiate the affordable housing contribution.
Where evidence of exceptional circumstances is provided that threaten the delivery of
the scheme, the Council will consider negotiating a different tenure mix or for the
provision of a lower proportion of affordable homes or for a number of built units with
no additional public subsidy as the affordable housing contribution, but this itself will
be subject to further reviews every 3 years where the development is not completed
within a 3 year period.”

Page 59

34.

A variety of scenarios have been studied using the GVA Grimley model. By altering
the tenures and number of affordable units, the model calculates all aspects of the
development, and provides a final figure to discover the financial viability of a
scheme. An unviable scheme is unlikely to go ahead given the risk to the
development and the severe impact upon their own profit margins, and the increase
difficulty in securing borrowing for the development. After much negotiation, the
scheme put forward would appear to be the most viable for the site. Whilst it is noted
that both the numbers of affordable housing and the tenure mix are not in line with
policy, achieving these standards would make the scheme unviable and therefore no
housing would be brought forward.

35.

It is important that a planning consent is not 'banked' and not left for a more
favourable housing market, as discussed in the Affordable Housing SPD as quoted
above. So that the viability issues remain pertinent the applicant has agreed to deliver
the affordable units within a taut timescale, such as 18 months from the date of
planning permission.

36.

Members should be aware that the applicant has failed to negotiate a fee with the
landowners regarding access from Brickhills. Members should also be aware that
these negotiations are currently taking place with the District Council’s Housing Team
as landowner. There has been local concern about a potential conflict of interests
given the District Council are the owner of this strip of land. The applicant has shown
£35,000 within their abnormal costings for the access. Should this figure alter, then it
is likely to require a reduced S106 package, which may be lower open space or
education provisions. Whilst the issue of viability is a material consideration on
decision making, it is not felt appropriate for officers to determine the weighting that is
to be attached to the scheme and may therefore seek the views of planning
committee in this respect. The recommendation reflects this approach.

37.

Paragraph 10 of the planning obligation circular 05/2005 outlines that where schemes
are not economically viable, it is for the local authority to decide what is to be the
balance of contributions made by developers. If the local authority wishes to
encourage development, and where the development is needed to meet the aims of
the development plan, it may wish to provide the necessary infrastructure itself in
order to enable development to be acceptable in planning terms.

38.

The Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) good practice note ' responding to the
downturn' states 'a planning obligation is generally necessary to make a proposed
development acceptable in planning terms, and that its non-viability, although a
material consideration, is not a sufficient reason in itself for considering flexibility in its
application'.

39.

The Advisory Team for Large Applications (ATLAS) was established by the ODPM
(Now Communities and Local Government) and provide an independent advisory
service to local authorities. Their topic paper T1: Responsive Planning Practices for
Changing Economic Times published in January 2010 advises local authorities to
build in flexibility into legal agreements to allow for the scenario should the market
recover allowing for a greater level of planning obligations that agreed at the time of
the viability appraisal. Such uptake is acceptable in accordance with the planning
obligations circular 05/2005 so long as the local planning authority is not seen to be
profiteering from development. The topic paper suggests obligations should be
capped at an appropriate level (i.e. what would have been required in accordance
with adopted policy) to address this scenario.

Page 60

40.

In summary of the above, the applicant has shown that the scheme is unable to
provide affordable housing and the tenure mix in line with the Council’s policies.
Negotiations have taken place regarding the viability, and it is believed the proposed
scheme is the most viable for a 19 dwelling scheme at the site. Members should give
due weight on whether such a reduced package is better than leaving the site
undeveloped.
The Impact upon the Occupiers of Adjacent Properties

41.

Given the narrow nature of the site, the proposed dwellings will be located close to a
number of the existing surrounding dwellings. The scheme has been designed and
amended to best assimilate it into the area without causing any serious harm to the
occupiers of these properties.

42.

70 Brickhills is a two-storey semi-detached property, with a driveway to its south side
between it and the application site. It currently has a row of tall leylandii hedging
along the southern boundary, and a chain link fence. The hedging would be removed,
opening up the view from the dwelling to the south. Plot 1 would be located 3m from
the shared boundary. There are no primary habitable room windows in the south
elevation of 70 Brickhills. I do not therefore consider that any serious harm would
result to the occupiers of this property. The proposed dwelling is slightly longer and
therefore a condition limiting windows in the north elevation, they could overlook the
private garden are of 70 would be required. The only window in the north elevation
serves a bathroom and a condition can ensure it is obscure glazed.

43.

Plots 1 to 6 would be located along the western section of the site. Plots 1-2 would be
located between 8 and 9.5m from the west boundary, whilst the design of plot 3
would bring it to within 3.5m of the boundary at its closest point. Here, the roof would
be at its lowest at 5m in height. Each dwelling has rear facing bedroom windows,
which would overlook the land to the west. This land is the beer garden for the former
Three Tuns public house, now a restaurant. Whilst it would be significantly
overlooked, the use of the land would mean that no serious loss of amenity would
result. I note that there is potential for overlooking from the north elevation of plot 3 to
the private garden of plot 2. Again, a condition restricting future windows, and a
condition obscuring the bathroom window could prevent this in the future.

44.

The south boundary of the site is irregular in shape, as a section of garden for 45
Church Street extends further northwards. Plots 6-8 are located close to the southern
boundary of the site. Plot 6 is 1m from the irregular boundary area, and 5m from the
southernmost boundary. Plots 7-8 are located 8.3m from the southern boundary.
Again, at this point, the dwellings are at their lowest at 5m in height. There were
concerns that the proximity of these dwellings to the long gardens of the properties on
Church Street would make them appear overbearing and create overlooking from the
bedroom windows. The applicant has provided a plan showing how these gardens
would be affected. The gardens stretch approximately 44m from the rear boundary
and a further distance (as above) to the dwellings themselves. Any overlooking would
be into the end of the gardens only, with the private garden spaces to the back of the
dwellings unaffected. Although the dwellings will be easily seen from these gardens,
and would cause some overlooking to the rear of these gardens, I do not consider the
proposal would cause a serious loss of amenity to the occupiers of these properties.

45.

Plot 8 would also be located approximately 2.9m and 3.5m from the shared boundary
with 15 Rockmill End. This is a timber boarded bungalow, with accommodation in the
roof space. Its main private garden area is to the west of the dwelling towards plot 8.
Again, the dwelling would be visible from this area, but given its low height, I do not

Page 61

consider any serious loss of amenity would be caused. A condition would again be
required to ensure that the facing bathroom window is obscure glazed, and that no
further first floor windows are added in the side elevation.
46.

Plots 9 and 10 are located on the bend of the proposed road. Plot 9 would be 5.5m
from the north boundary of the site, which at this point is the parking area for
Brickhills and the boundary with the rear garden of 57 Brickhills. There is a bedroom
window facing north-eastwards. This may create some views to the rear gardens of
55 and57 Brickhills, but the design of the room would make this difficult to achieve. A
condition could be added to obscure glaze this window if members feel this
necessary. A condition would be required to restrict any further windows in the north,
northeast and east elevations of plot 9. There is a similar first floor bedroom window
to plot 10, although this is set further from the north boundary. Again, there is
potential for some overlooking to 55 and 57 Brickhills, and members may wish to add
an obscure glazing condition. No other windows should be added at first floor in the
northeast and northwest elevations.

47.

An area of open space would be located along the north boundary of 15 Rockmill
End, and between plots 8 and 11. It would be naturally overlooked by ground and first
floor windows in the surrounding proposed dwellings. I note concerns regarding noise
disturbance to the occupiers of 15 Rockmill End, particularly regarding ball games.
Defensive planting is shown on the diagrams, and should be included in any
landscaping scheme to ensure that ball games would not lead to the constant kicking
of a football against the boundary fence. I do not consider the occupiers of 15
Rockmill End would suffer a serious loss of amenity from the location of the open
space.

48.

Plots 11-16 run through the centre of the site. There were concerns during the course
of the application regarding the overlooking potential both towards properties on
Brickhills and Rockmill End. The latest amended first floor plans show that north
facing windows are to be obscure glazed to prevent overlooking, and these can be
conditioned accordingly. The south facing windows have been adjusted to prevent
overlooking, and oriel windows have been added. With use of restrictive conditions,
there should be no overlooking towards 15 or 17 Rockmill End, or between dwellings
in the development. It should be noted that the elevations have not been altered to
show the changes to the windows, and if approved, these would be required before a
consent is issued.

49.

33-37 Brickhills are bungalows, with very small rear gardens measuring only 4.5m in
depth at their smallest point. They have numerous rear facing windows between
them, and the boundary is currently only a chain link fence. Plot 19 is single storey
and has been designed to restrict any serious harm to the occupiers of these
bungalows. Given its single storey nature, it would not be viewed as overbearing from
the bungalows at Brickhills, and at 3.7m in height at its tallest point, would be lower
than these bungalows. The roof integrates well with the design of plots 17 and 18,
which are two-storey properties. There are no first floor windows in the south
elevation of plot 17 that would cause serious overlooking to 17 Rockmill End,
providing conditions are added to ensure the bathroom window is obscure glazed,
and no further windows are added.

50.

To the east of the site are the properties along Rockmill End. The whole of the shared
boundary of the site appears to be in the ownership of 21 Rockmill End. This property
has a number of old outbuildings towards its western boundary. Plots 17 and 18 both
have rear facing windows at first floor levels approximately 8.9m from the boundary.

Page 62

Again, this would not cause any serious loss of harm to the occupier of 21 Rockmill
End given the presence of these outbuildings, and the length of the rear garden.
51.

I note the concerns from the residents of Brickhills regarding noise disturbance from
the access way and light pollution from any street lighting for the scheme. These
properties have very small rear gardens, measuring only 5m in depth in some
instances where the footpath runs to the rear. A 2m high Jakoustic Reflective
Environmental Noise Barrier System is proposed along the north elevation of the site
to reduce noise disturbance. A 1m landscaping belt is also shown to allow some
landscaping along this barrier. Whilst the residents of Brickhills are likely to be aware
of further vehicle movements, I do not consider any loss of amenity would be serious
enough to refuse the application. Details and the retention of the Jakoustic Barrier
would be required by condition.

52.

With regards to lighting, a condition can also ensure that light is filtered into the site
only by the use of appropriate louvers. Details of these would be required by
condition. With adequate information, I do not consider that any serious harm would
occur to the occupiers of the properties of Brickhills.

53.

In summary, the nature of the site means that the proposed dwellings are located
close to the surrounding dwellings. The scheme has been designed to reduce any
impact upon the occupiers of these properties. With the use of appropriate restrictive
conditions, I consider that the scheme would not cause any serious loss of amenity.
Design and Impact upon the Street Scene

54.

The site is a narrow strip of land, particularly the eastern section, and the design of
the scheme has to take this into account. Given the need for an access road, the
dwellings are located close to the road with minimum front gardens. This is the result
of pre-application discussions, which include input from the Urban Design team.

55.

The dwellings have been designed to look modern, and do not mimic the existing
dwellings in the area. I note that this decision has caused some local concern. The
dwellings along Brickhills are ex-Local Authority housing, and themselves are not of
great architectural merit. The dwellings along Church Street are included within the
Conservation Area and are considered to be a more traditional style of design. If
either of these conflicting styles were to be used as a template, then I do not consider
the scheme would integrate well into the area. A modern design ensures that the
scheme is read as new, and not a pastiche of another form of design. The adopted
Design Guide notes that “buildings with too much uniformity can appear dull and
over-regimented and those with excessive variety can seem haphazard and
unsettling. Good architecture often combines and plays off the regular and irregular,
the expected and the unexpected”.

56.

The dwellings themselves all have the same design principles. They have monopitch
roofs, which allow the heights and bulk of the dwellings to be relatively low in
comparison to other two-storey units. The maximum height of any of the dwellings is
6.5m, with the monopitch roofs sloping downwards at a shallow angle. The dwellings
would be lower in height than those two-storey units on Brickhills. The external
materials would consist of a combination of rendered panels, thin stripped Siberian
larch and brickwork, with zinc roofing above. Concern has been raised regarding the
colour of the panels, which are shown on the plans to be green. The plans do state
that the colours are to be confirmed, and a condition can ensure appropriate colours
are to used. These may be more subtle than the green shown on the plans.

Page 63

57.

The units are a combination of semi-detached properties, a terrace of four units and a
single detached bungalow. This does create some difference in the site, and it is
noted the same design principles run through each of these types of dwelling. The
terrace of four has been located on the bend in the road, and therefore is designed to
turn with the road. This reduces the bulk of this element as it is not viewed as four
dwellings in a row.

58.

I note the comments from the Council's Trees Officer regarding the scheme. There is
a large willow tree just south of the parking area on Brickhills which would require
removal to allow access into the site, and there are concerns regarding its removal.
However, the tree is not considered worthy of protection in its own right. The
Landscape Officer has no objections to the layout, and seeks a 1m wide strip along
the northern boundary to allow for significant planting. A landscape condition and
boundary condition would be required to ensure appropriate detailing on these
issues.

59.

With appropriate conditions regarding landscaping and materials, I consider the
design of the scheme acceptable.
Flooding and Drainage

60.

I note the comments from the Council's Drainage Manager, who has been working
with the applicant to devise a suitable drainage scheme for the site following the
discovery of the Common Shore Drain that runs through the site. The details provided
by the consultant are acceptable, subject to a condition to ensure adequate detailing.
I note local concerns regarding flooding, but the submission of adequate detail should
ensure that surface water is drained in an appropriate manner.

61.

The applicant has stated that foul water would be discharged into the mains sewer.
This is considered acceptable in principle, subject to a condition showing the
connection details.
Highway Safety and Parking Provision

62.

Access to the site would be gained from the north through Brickhills. This is an estate
road that serves a number of dwellings, and winds southwards from Wilford Furlong.
On the opposite side to 70 Brickhills is a small parking area for the estate. This would
be unaffected by the proposal, which would still allow safe use and manoeuvring from
these spaces.

63.

The Local Highway Authority has confirmed that they would seek adoption of the
access road. The plans show an access 5m wide running through the site, with a
1.8m footway. It is noted that the road does reduce to 4.7m in places, and therefore a
condition can be added to ensure the 5m width is retained throughout the site. This
should not alter the general layout of the site. The footpath now serves all dwellings
on the site.

64.

It is noted that the pedestrian visibility splays shown on the amended layout plans
date stamped 23rd March 2010 are shown incorrectly. The required splays for plot 12
appears to not be possible given the location of the dwelling. However, in this instant,
I consider the reduced splay possible (1.5m by 1.5m) to be acceptable in this
instance. Plot 1 would be located directly to the south an existing fence that is not
controlled by the applicant or the council. There are no powers to remove this fence.
Pedestrian splays are not possible to the north from the proposed access to plot 1.
However, the removal of the leylandii hedge will allow views through the chain link

Page 64

fence for drivers to be able to see oncoming pedestrians. In this instance, although
there would be an obstruction more than 600mm in height, there would not be any
serious harm to highway users or pedestrians. A condition can ensure a plan showing
the correct and achievable splays is submitted and therefore implemented on site.
65.

I note a condition is recommended regarding the provision of parking facilities for
powered two wheel vehicles and bicycles. There is space to the front and side of the
dwellings for such storage, whilst each unit would have a private garden area.
Although the areas would not be secure, i.e. in a shed or garage, the design of the
layout would not allow this to be achievable, and there is necessary private space
available. In this instance, I do not consider such a condition necessary.

66.

There is local concern regarding the number of parking spaces at the site. The site
provides 31 parking spaces, each generally related to an individual unit. The
Council’s maximum parking standards seek 1.5 spaces per dwelling, plus the
provision of short-term parking for visitors. The site therefore provides sufficient
parking in line with the policy.

67.

The site does have a good location in line with the village’s services and facilities.
However, I note concerns from Sustrans that cyclists and walkers may be
discouraged from cycling and walking to these facilities due to the “convoluted”
access through Brickhills. There is no direct access to Church Street or Rockmill End
from the site, and therefore journeys out of the site would require occupiers to go
through Brickhills. I would be concerned that any access onto Church Street would
cause harm to the designated Conservation Area. However, the facilities remain
relatively close. I do not consider this would significantly discourage cyclists and
walkers to a serious extent.
Impact Upon the Adjacent Conservation Area and Listed Buildings

68.

The Willingham Conservation Area includes most of the properties and rear buildings
fronting onto Church Street. The rear boundary of the site by plots 5-8 is directly
adjacent to this designation. The Conservation Area boundary continues eastwards to
the southern boundary of 15 and 17 Rockmill End. 45 and 47 Church Street are a pair
of semi-detached grade II Listed Buildings and have long rear gardens. No comments
have been received from the Conservation Officer. However, it is noted that during
pre-application discussion, concerns were raised on the impact of both the
Conservation Area and the setting of the Listed Buildings.

69.

The applicant has noted that the application site as a whole and land to the west were
designated for housing in the 1993 South Cambridgeshire Local Plan. Policy
Willingham 1a designated 5.2 acres of land to the north of Church Street and south of
Wilford Furlong for primary residential purposes. The accompanying text noted the
land is enclosed orchard or garden land, whilst access would not be permitted from
Church Street. Members should be aware that this designation was removed for the
1999 Local Plan. No applications were seemingly forthcoming during this time. The
Conservation Area was designated on 12th July 1974, whilst 45 and 47 Rockmill End
were listed on 14th September 1984, both before the 1999 Local Plan.

70.

Whilst no layout plans were submitted for the area of Policy Willingham 1a, residential
development would have been around this area. The rear gardens to the Listed
Buildings would also have been seriously affected. Access from Brickhills was not
ruled out for the site. Given the comments regarding the design of the scheme, I do
not consider the development would seriously impact upon the character of the
Conservation Area or the setting of the Listed Buildings.

Page 65

71.

There will be views of the site from between dwellings along Church Street and
Brickhills. Of particular concern was views from Church Street, located within the
Conservation Area. The applicant has provided montages within the Design and
Access Statement to show how the site would be viewed from Church Street. These
show that, although visible, the dwellings should not cause any serious harm to the
view from this location. The largest area of concern is the view from alongside the
former Three Tuns public house, which would allow views of the terrace of four at
plots 3-6. However, given the distance of the site from Church Street and the existing
outbuildings, I again do not consider any serious harm would result.

72.

The scheme has been designed so as not to cause any loss of views of Willingham
Church, set to the southwest of the site. This was noted as being a potential concern,
particularly from Rockmill End. However, the limited views of the church from this
location will be unaffected. Such views have already been seriously compromised by
the development S/2196/06/F along Rockmill End.
Other Matters

73.

I note concerns from local residents regarding the potential for the scheme to be
uncompleted. These comments presumably result from the outcome of application
S/2196/06/F for nine dwellings at Rockmill End. These dwellings remain uncompleted
and the site is now on the market. Whilst this is an unfortunate situation, the planning
system cannot ensure the completion of schemes, which is reliant upon market
demand.

74.

I note further concerns from residents of nearby dwellings regarding the loss of views
of agricultural land, and the devaluation of properties as a result of the proposed
development. Neither of these issues are material planning considerations.

75.

I note comments from the County Archaeology Team regarding the potential for
remains on site. A condition can be added to allow for the relevant investigation of the
land prior to the commencement of development.
Recommendation

76.

Delegated approval, subject to the submission of up to date elevations for a number
of the plots following amendments and an amended plan showing the road to be 5m
at all times, and subject to the agreed details within the S106 package.
Conditions

77.

I aim to provide a full list of conditions with the Committee Update. This will include
conditions regarding the time implementation, the listing of the approved plans, a
landscape scheme, landscape implementation, details of site boundaries, obscure
glazing to plots 1, 3, and 8-17, remove of permitted development rights for windows
to plots 1, 3, and 8-17, the detailing and retention of the Jakoustic Barrier, lighting
details, surface and foul water drainage, time of construction, and materials.
Informatives
Should pile driven foundations be proposed, then before works commence, a
statement of the method of construction of these foundations shall be submitted and
agreed by the District Environmental Health Officer so that noise and vibration can be
controlled.

Page 66

78.

During construction there shall be no bonfires or burning of waste on site except with
the prior permission of the Environmental Health Officer in accordance with best
practice and existing waste management legislation.

Background Papers: the following background papers were used in the preparation of this
report:
!
!
!

!
!
!

Local Development Framework Core Strategy Development Plan Document 2007
Local Development Framework Development Control Policies (LDF DCP) 2007
Development Affecting Conservation Areas SPD, Open Space in New Developments
SPD, Public Art SPD, Trees and Development Sites SPD, Affordable Housing SPD &
District Design Guide SPD
Circular 11/95 – The Use of Conditions in Planning Permissions
Circular 05/2005 - Planning Obligations
Planning Files Ref: S/0014/10/F and S/2196/06/F

Contact Officer:

Paul Derry – Senior Planning Officer
Telephone: (01954) 713159

Page 67

Agenda Item 11

SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

REPORT TO:
AUTHOR/S:

Planning Committee
Executive Director (Operational Services)/
Corporate Manager (Planning and New Communities)

2nd June 2010

S/0410/10/F – OVER
Polytunnel at Land to the West of Hansons Needingworth Quarry, Long Lane Holme
Drove, Over Pit, for the Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (Mr Chris Hudson)
Recommendation: Approval
Date for Determination: 14th May 2010
Notes:
This Application has been reported to the Planning Committee for determination as
the recommendation of approval would conflict with written representations on
material planning grounds received from Over Parish Council.
Site and Proposal
1.

The application site forms part of an operating sand and gravel quarry, which involves
gradual restoration of the quarry to a nature reserve managed by the RSPB, as part
of a Section 106 agreement between Cambridge County Council and the RSPB.

2.

The site falls outside of the village framework of Over and is located to the west of an
existing quarry compound; to the north is an existing quarry conveyor belt and to the
south is a lake, preceded by a 1m high earth bank. The surrounding area comprises
mostly open grassland and quarry works with private access gained from a track to
the east, which connects onto Long Holme Drove.

3.

The planning application, registered on 19th March 2010, seeks approval to erect a
single polytunnel for the propagation of reeds on site in order to increase the speed of
reed bed establishment in the restoration project. The proposed polytunnel measures
4.9m by 12.9m with a ridge height of 2.6m and would be constructed of constructed of
steel hoops and polythene sheets.
Planning History

4.

In 1999 the site gained consent from Cambridge County Council for the creation of a
wetland habitat following excavation and processing of sand and gravel (ref
S/1020/99/CM). Planning condition A4 states that no fixed plant; or machinery,
building, structures and erections shall be erected, extended, installed or replaced
within the site without the prior written approval of the Mineral Planning Authority.
Planning Policy

5.

National Policy
Planning Policy Statement 7 Sustainable Development in Rural Areas
Planning Policy Statement 9 Biological and Geological Conservation

Page 68
S-0410-10-F - Over

Scale 1/5000

Reproduced from the 2008 Ordnance Survey mapping with
the permission of the controller of Her Majesty's stationary
office (c) Crown Copyright.Unauthorised reproduction infringes
Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.

Date 14/5/2010

Centre = 538152 E 272424 N

June 2010 Planning Committee

Page 69

6.

Local Development Framework Development Control Policies (Adopted July
2007):
DP/1 (Sustainable Development), DP/2 (Design of New Development), DP/3
(Development Criteria), NE/6 (Biodiversity) and NE/11 (Flood Risk).

7.

Local Development Framework Supplementary Planning Documents:
Biodiversity SPD - Adopted July 2009
Landscape in New Developments SPD
Consultation

8.

Over Parish Council Recommend refusal on the grounds that this would be out of
keeping with the surrounding rural landscape.

9.

Ecological Officer I write to support to support the RSPB's application for a
polytunnel. I am aware of the extensive reedbed that the RSPB are creating
adjacent to the River Ouse. It will be one of the largest in the country and make a very
significant to the County and National Biodiversity Action Plan for reedbeds.
The common reed (Phragmites australis) can be hard to establish under certain
climatic conditions. Young plants are susceptible to frost damage, pest attack and
grazing from birds. The RSPB need very large quantities of reed and I am aware that
they are propagating some reeds from cuttings, layering and root stems. However,
the propagation of young reeds is an activity that they feel is required to aid the
creation of this nationally valuable habitat.
I support the application and would draw Members' attention to the fact that the
operation is a temporary one and Key Principle in Planning Policy Statement 9
(Biodiversity and Geological Conservation), which states that development proposals
where the principal objective is to conserve or enhance biodiversity and geological
conservation should be permitted.

10.

Landscape Officer - comments not yet received.

11.

Cambridge County Council - comments not yet received.

12.

Environment Agency - comments not yet received.
Representations

13.

None received.
Planning Comments – Key Issues

14.

The key issues to be judged in the determination of the application are the impact of
the development on the character of the landscape and the countryside.
Impact on the Rural Landscape

15.

The principle of the proposed development would appear to accord with general
countryside Policy DP/7, which states that ‘Outside urban and village frameworks,
only development for agricultural, horticulture, forestry, outdoor recreation and other

Page 70

uses which need to be located in the countryside will be permitted.” The assessment
in this case is therefore considered to focus on whether the siting of the development
is appropriate within the specific location in which it is set.
16.

The appearance of the development is similar to other polytunnels typically found on
agricultural land and usually constructed of steel hoops and polythene sheets. In
assessing the design of the structure it is evident that the overall height of 2.6 metres
would present a low form of development with a curved roof that would soften its
appearance. The overall footprint of the structure, together with its height, would in
my mind appear to be relatively modest in size and scale with regard to the location.

17.

The quarry compound immediately east of the site does mitigate the impact of the
development; however the existing industrial appearance created by the compound
can only be viewed as a temporary setup until the cessation of extraction. The
proposal would therefore otherwise be located in relatively open countryside. The
appearance of the development is however not considered to have an adverse impact
on the rural landscape given its modest size and scale and the existing and proposed
1m earth bank to the south of the building which would help to reduce the exposure of
the building. Further planting has been discussed with the developer who has
explained that whilst the application is limited in size, it is the intention of the RSPB to
provide more landscaping outside of the site area.

18.

The location and appearance of the development is not considered to have an
adverse impact on the rural landscape due to its modest size and scale, its low form
and the proposed embankment that would reduce some of its exposure. The
assessment of the development must also be balanced against the benefits from its
functional use, which the ecology officer has supported above.
Conclusion

19.

The size, scale and design of the development is not considered to have an adverse
visual impact on the countryside and the purpose for which it would serve is
supported by Policy DP/7 and Planning Policy Statements 7 and 9.
Recommendation

20.

That the application, be approved, subject to the following conditions:
1.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3
years from the date of this permission.
(Reason - To ensure that consideration of any future application for development
in the area will not be prejudiced by permissions for development, which have not
been acted upon.)

2.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
following approved plans: PO1, PO2 and PO3.
(Reason - To facilitate any future application to the Local Planning Authority under
Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.)

Page 71

Background Papers: the following background papers were used in the preparation of this
report:
Circular 11/95 – Use of Conditions in Planning Permissions
National Planning Policy Statements
South Cambridgeshire Local Development Framework (LDF) Development Control
Policies, adopted July 2007.
! Biodiversity SPD - Adopted July 2009
! Landscape in New Developments SPD
! Planning Application File S/1020/99/CM
!
!
!

Contact Officer:

Andrew Winter – Planning Officer
Telephone: (01954) 713082

Page 72

This page is left blank intentionally.

Page 73

Agenda Item 13

SOUTH CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

REPORT TO:
AUTHOR/S:

Planning Committee
2 June 2010
Executive Director (Operational Services) / Corporate Manager – Planning
and New Communities

CAMBOURNE - DRAINAGE
Background
1.

This matter is being reported to the Planning Committee at the request of the
Planning Portfolio Holder, following assurances given to Full Council on 22
April 2010 that it would be kept under regular review by Members

2.

Update reports will be presented to future meetings of the Planning Committee
until a permanent solution to the drainage issues at Cambourne has been
identified and implemented.
Update as at 21 May 2010

3.

Prior to the Full Council meeting on 22 April 2010, nine questions on this
issue were raised of the Planning Portfolio Holder and four of the
Environment Services Portfolio Holder. The Questions and Responses can be
found under the heading Lower Cambourne Terminal Pumping Station (TPS)
and Drainage Issues on the following webpage
http://www.scambs.gov.uk/CommunityandLiving/NewCommunities/MajorDeve
lopments/Cambourne/default.htm

4.

A public meeting, cchaired by Councillor Charles Nightingale, Chairman of
South Cambridgeshire District Council, was held at the Hub in Cambourne on
11 May 2010 It was attended by more than 40 members of the public and
featured a Panel that included a representative from the Cambourne
Consortium and its Resident Engineer, representatives from Anglian Water,
and Councillors and Officers from South Cambridgeshire District Council.

5.

The representative from the Cambourne Consortium, and its Resident
Engineer, reported verbally that the investigative works of the strategic
sewers would be completed by the end of May 2010 and repairs carried out
by the end of August 2010. The representative from Anglian Water confirmed
that he was confident that a practical solution to the issues could be found.

6.

On 14 May 2010, South Cambridgeshire District Counci’s Chief Executive
met with Senior Directors of Bovis Homes, Taylor Wimpey and MCA
Developments to discuss a number of matters, including drainage. The
Directors confirmed the timetable for investigation and repair.

7.

Officers will continue to liaise with representatives of The Cambourne
Consortium, its Resident Engineer and Anglian Water over the coming weeks
to monitor progress of the ongoing investigative works and repairs. The local
community will also be updated via the monthly Cambourne Liaison Meeting

Page 74

held between District Council officers, Cambourne Parish Council and Local
Members.
8.

A further update will be presented to the July meeting of the Planning
Committee.

Background Papers: the following background papers
were used in the preparation of this update:
•
None
Contact Officer:

Stephen Reid – Planning Lawyer
Telephone: (01954) 713195

